

PhD Research Plan

Robust LLMs in Cybersecurity: Protection Against Attacks and Preventing Malicious Use

Submitted by

Ali Abduljabbar Mohammed Jawad PhD Candidate

Supervised by

Dr. Manel Guerrero Zapata Dr. Mohammed Salah Al-Radhi

17th January 2025



List of Figures

| Figure 1: Dual-Use Nature of Large Language Models in Cybersecurity | 5 |
|---|----|
| Figure 2: General Classification of Attacks on LLMs | 7 |
| Figure 3: The Evolution of Language Models | 9 |
| Figure 4: Cybersecurity Lifecycle | 12 |
| Figure 5: Digital Forensic Process | 15 |
| Figure 6: (A) The model refuses to provide the information | 22 |
| Figure 7: White-Box Attacks on LLMs | 26 |
| Figure 8: Black-Box Attacks on LLMs | 28 |
| Figure 9: Vulnerability Landscape of LLMs | 29 |
| Figure 10 | |
| Figure 11: Some of the Preliminary Results | 42 |
| Figure 12: Research Timeline Illustration | 52 |
| | |

List of Tables

| Table 1: Comparison of Prominent Large Language Models in Cybersecurity | 6 |
|---|----|
| Table 2: Summary of Defensive Applications of LLMs in Cybersecurity | 17 |
| Table 3: Summary of Offensive Applications of LLMs in Cybersecurity | 19 |
| Table 4: Applications of LLMs in Enhancing Cybersecurity Operations | 21 |



Table of Contents

| 1. Summary4 |
|--|
| 2. State of The Art5 |
| 2.1. Background5 |
| 2.2 Literature Review9 |
| 2.2.1 Overview of LLMs in Cybersecurity9 |
| 2.2.2 Applications of LLMs in Cybersecurity12 |
| 2.2.3 Attacks on LLMs21 |
| 2.2.4 Responsible AI and Explainable AI |
| 2.2.5 Nonlinear Dynamics and Prompt Sensitivity32 |
| 2.3 Problem Formulation |
| 2.4 Problem Statement |
| 3. Objectives |
| 4. Methodology |
| 4.1 Research Design |
| 4.2 Data Collection and Preprocessing37 |
| 4.3 Attack Implementation and Vulnerability Analysis37 |
| 4.3.1 Chaotic Prompting37 |
| 4.3.2 Preliminary Results40 |
| 4.4 Insecure Code Generation42 |
| 4.5 Digital Forensics Exploration44 |
| 4.5 Responsible and Explainable AI Framework Development46 |
| 4.6 Evaluation and Validation48 |
| 5. Requirements |
| 6. Timeline |
| 7. References |



1. Summary

The emergence of Large Language Models (LLMs) has revolutionized natural language processing and its applications across various domains. However, these advancements have also introduced significant challenges, particularly in the context of cybersecurity, ethical AI deployment, and the generation of secure, reliable outputs in high-assurance systems. This research aims to investigate critical vulnerabilities in LLM architectures by employing novel techniques, such as **Chaotic Prompting**, and exploring their susceptibility to adversarial and chaotic inputs. By treating LLMs as complex, nonlinear systems, this study seeks to uncover the underlying dynamics that lead to erratic or insecure outputs, including hallucinations and code vulnerabilities.

The research focuses on four key areas: attacks on LLMs, insecure code generation, digital forensics, and responsible AI (RAI) - explainable AI (XAI) framework. In the first phase, the study develops and refines the Chaotic Prompting attack, a method designed to exploit the sensitivity of LLMs to input perturbations, revealing their limits in handling adversarial scenarios. Subsequent phases evaluate the performance of LLMs in generating secure code, particularly for underexplored languages like Hardware Description Languages (HDLs) and Programmable Logic Controller (PLC) Structured Text, which are critical in safety-critical domains. The study also fine-tunes LLMs for forensic tasks, such as evidence extraction and timeline reconstruction, while investigating how nonlinear behaviors and hallucinations impact forensic applications.

A significant component of the research is the development of a **Responsible AI and Explainable AI framework** to ensure ethical and transparent deployment of LLMs in sensitive domains. By leveraging the traditional tools, alongside insights from nonlinear dynamics, the framework aims to enhance the interpretability and accountability of LLM-generated outputs. This framework is validated through rigorous experiments involving cross-model comparisons, stability analyses, and chaotic input testing, ensuring robust and ethically aligned performance.

The research adopts a comprehensive methodology, including fine-tuning, adversarial testing, and dynamic analysis. Metrics such as safety bypass rates, hallucination frequency, functional equivalence, and explainability fidelity are used to evaluate model performance. Open-source and proprietary platforms (e.g., OpenAI, Anthropic, Gemini, Bloom, and GPT-NeoX) are employed to ensure a broad and comparative analysis across different LLM architectures. The study also incorporates cutting-edge computational tools, including GPU-based cloud services and advanced software frameworks like PyTorch, TensorFlow, and dynamic analysis simulators.

Spanning from **May 2024 to May 2028**, the research plan is divided into six distinct phases, culminating in the submission of a doctoral dissertation. Each phase addresses a key research focus, including developing attacks, exploring secure code generation, advancing forensic applications, and establishing a robust RAI and XAI framework. The outcomes of this research will contribute to a deeper understanding of LLM vulnerabilities, the development of secure and ethical AI systems, and the creation of transparent frameworks for AI accountability.

This research not only bridges gaps in current LLM security and reliability studies but also sets a foundation for building more robust, ethical, and explainable AI systems for critical domains. The findings are expected to make significant contributions to the fields of cybersecurity, AI ethics, and AI explainability, while addressing pressing challenges in the deployment of large-scale AI systems in safety-critical and sensitive applications.



2. State of The Art

2.1. Background

Overview of Cybersecurity and Large Language Models (LLMs)

Cybersecurity is a critical field dedicated to safeguarding digital infrastructures, sensitive data, and user privacy against an ever-evolving landscape of threats. Traditional security measures, while foundational, often struggle to keep pace with the sophistication of modern cyber-attacks. The advent of Artificial Intelligence (AI) has introduced new paradigms in threat detection and response, with Large Language Models (LLMs) such as GPT-4, BERT, and LLaMA playing a pivotal role. These models, trained on vast datasets, exhibit remarkable proficiency in understanding and generating human-like text, enabling applications that range from content creation to complex problem-solving. LLMs offer unprecedented opportunities and significant challenges in cybersecurity as shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Dual-Use Nature of Large Language Models in Cybersecurity



UNIVERSITAT POLITÈCNICA DE CATALUNYA BARCELONATECH Escola de Doctorat

Significance of LLMs in Cybersecurity

LLMs have demonstrated substantial potential in enhancing cybersecurity operations. Their ability to process and analyze large volumes of data allows for improved intrusion detection systems, advanced malware analysis, and efficient vulnerability assessments. For instance, LLMs can automate the generation of scripts for penetration testing, identify weaknesses in system architectures, and even predict potential attack vectors by analyzing patterns in historical data. However, this dual-use nature also poses risks; adversaries may exploit LLMs to craft sophisticated phishing schemes, develop polymorphic malware, or automate other malicious activities, thus amplifying the scale and impact of cyber threats [1].

| Model | Architecture | Training Data | Applications in Cybersecurity |
|----------|-----------------|----------------------------|--|
| GPT-4 | Decoder-only, | Trained on a diverse | - Threat detection and analysis |
| | Transformer- | dataset including web | - Generating secure scripts for vulnerability |
| | based | pages, books, and | assessments |
| | | technical content; size | - Understanding phishing patterns. |
| | | undisclosed. | |
| Gemini | Encoder- | Combination of textual | - Advanced threat intelligence |
| | decoder, | and multimodal data (text | - Enhancing autonomous systems security |
| | Multimodal | + images), focusing on | - Contextual analysis in complex |
| | | reasoning and technical | cybersecurity workflows. |
| | | scenarios. | |
| LLaMA 3 | Decoder-only, | Public datasets | - Assisting secure code generation and |
| | Open-source | emphasizing code and | debugging |
| | | technical knowledge, | - Log analysis for anomaly detection |
| | | multilingual capabilities. | - Training on secure software practices. |
| Claude 3 | Decoder-only, | Curated dataset with | - Policy formulation for cybersecurity |
| | Safety-oriented | emphasis on ethical | governance |
| | | considerations, ensuring | - Simulating ethical hacking scenarios |
| | | AI safety and reliability. | - Providing user awareness on security. |
| Mistral | Encoder- | Compact datasets | - Developing lightweight security |
| | decoder, | optimized for efficiency, | applications |
| | Lightweight | focusing on multilingual | - Real-time monitoring for IoT systems |
| | | and low-resource | Supporting secure multilingual |
| | | environments. | communications. |
| BERT | Encoder-only, | Trained on BookCorpus | - Detecting phishing emails through |
| | Bidirectional | and Wikipedia data for | semantic analysis |
| | | robust language | - Identifying anomalous patterns in text logs |
| | | understanding. | - Keyword-based forensic investigations. |

Table 1: Comparison of Prominent Large Language Models in Cybersecurity

Table 1 highlights the architectural diversity, training data specialization, and specific applications of prominent LLMs in cybersecurity. The **architectural distinctions** among these models significantly influence their capabilities. For instance, **encoder-only models** such as BERT are optimized for tasks requiring deep contextual understanding, making them particularly effective for phishing detection and forensic keyword analysis. On the other hand, **decoder-only models** like GPT-4 and Claude 3 excel in generative tasks, such as creating secure code snippets or simulating ethical hacking scenarios, which are vital for proactive cybersecurity strategies. The **encoder-decoder models**, exemplified by Gemini and T5, combine the strengths of comprehension and generation, enabling their application in multimodal threat analysis and the automation of forensic evidence compilation [2], [3], [4].

The table also underscores the **importance of training data specialization** in tailoring LLMs for cybersecurity tasks. Models like GPT-4 and Claude 3 utilize highly curated datasets emphasizing ethical considerations and general text, aligning with their safety-oriented applications. Conversely, models



such as LLaMA 3 and Falcon are trained on domain-specific technical datasets, equipping them for targeted tasks like log analysis and cross-language threat detection [2], [3], [4].

Regarding cybersecurity applications, decoder-only models dominate creative tasks such as generating vulnerability assessments or writing secure configurations. Encoder-only models, by contrast, are better suited for understanding static textual data, which is crucial for detecting anomalies in logs or identifying phishing patterns. Encoder-decoder models excel in handling complex tasks requiring both generation and comprehension, such as advanced system-level security enhancements and multimodal threat evaluations[2], [3], [4].

Challenges in Securing LLMs

The integration of LLMs into cybersecurity frameworks introduces several challenges. A primary concern is their susceptibility to adversarial attacks, including prompt injections, data poisoning, and backdoor exploits, which can compromise their integrity and reliability (see Figure 2). Furthermore, the opaque nature of LLM decision-making processes—often called the "black box" problem—hinders transparency and trust, especially in critical applications where understanding the rationale behind decisions is essential. Addressing these challenges requires the development of robust security measures and explainability techniques to ensure that LLMs can be safely and effectively utilized in cybersecurity contexts [3].

Role of LLMs in Code Generation and Digital Forensics

LLMs have been increasingly applied in code generation tasks, assisting developers by producing code snippets based on natural language prompts. While this accelerates development processes, it also raises concerns about the inadvertent introduction of vulnerabilities. Studies have shown that LLM-generated code can contain security flaws, necessitating rigorous validation and oversight [5].

In digital forensics, LLMs offer capabilities for analyzing extensive textual data, such as system logs and incident reports, to identify indicators of compromise and reconstruct attack timelines. Despite their potential, the application of LLMs in digital forensics remains underexplored, presenting a fertile area for research and development [6].



Figure 2: General Classification of Attacks on LLMs



Nonlinear Dynamics and Prompt Sensitivity in LLMs

Viewing large language models (LLMs) through the lens of nonlinear dynamical systems provides insights into their complex behaviors, particularly their sensitivity to initial conditions, which is akin to chaotic systems. This prompt sensitivity indicates that minor variations in input can lead to significantly different outputs, thereby affecting the reliability and security of generated content. Understanding these dynamics is crucial for developing methods to mitigate unpredictable behaviors and enhance the robustness of LLMs against adversarial inputs [7].

Research has shown that LLMs are highly sensitive to slight variations in prompts, often generating significantly divergent outputs in response to minor changes in wording or structure. This variability presents challenges for accurate assessment and user satisfaction [8].

Additionally, studies indicate that LLMs can exhibit transient chaotic behavior, where their internal dynamics respond sensitively to small perturbations, resulting in unpredictable outputs. This characteristic underscores the importance of understanding the nonlinear dynamics within these models to improve their reliability and robustness [7].

Addressing prompt sensitivity and the inherent nonlinear dynamics of LLMs is essential for enhancing their performance and ensuring their safe deployment in various applications. Developing systematic methods to evaluate and quantify this sensitivity can contribute to creating more robust models that are less susceptible to adversarial inputs[8].

Need for Responsible and Explainable AI in LLMs

The deployment of LLMs in cybersecurity requires a commitment to responsible AI practices. Techniques such as Reinforcement Learning with Human Feedback (RLHF) and Differential Privacy can help ensure that LLM outputs align with ethical standards while protecting sensitive information. Furthermore, incorporating Explainable AI (XAI) mechanisms allows stakeholders to understand and trust the decisions made by LLMs, which is particularly important in security-related applications where accountability and transparency are paramount [3].

Contribution to the State of the Art

This research project aims to significantly contribute to the state-of-the-art at the intersection of cybersecurity and Large Language Models (LLMs). The multifaceted approach of the project addresses several key challenges and explores novel concepts that have the potential to reshape our understanding of LLM behavior and its security implications. At the core of this research is the innovative concept of "chaotic prompting". This method, which has shown promising results across multiple LLMs, represents a new paradigm for probing and understanding LLM vulnerabilities. By systematically investigating the effects of chaotic prompting, the project seeks to uncover previously unexplored aspects of LLM behavior under adversarial conditions. This could lead to the development of more robust defense mechanisms and a deeper understanding of LLM security dynamics.

Another significant contribution lies in the novel approach of analyzing LLMs through the lens of nonlinear systems theory. This perspective offers a fresh and potentially transformative way to model and understand LLM behavior. By applying concepts from dynamical systems and chaos theory, the research aims to provide new insights into the complex, often unpredictable nature of LLM outputs. This framework could offer a more nuanced and accurate representation of LLM dynamics, particularly in security-critical applications. The project's focus on secure code generation represents a critical area of contribution. By investigating how LLMs can be leveraged to generate secure code, particularly in hardware description languages and industrial control systems, the research addresses a pressing need in the cybersecurity landscape. This work has the potential to significantly enhance the security of critical infrastructure and systems by improving the reliability and safety of automatically generated code. Furthermore, the exploration of LLM applications in digital forensics opens up new avenues for enhancing investigative capabilities. This aspect of the research could lead to more efficient and effective digital forensic techniques, potentially revolutionizing how cybercrime investigations are conducted.Ultimately, the overarching objective of this research is to enhance the robustness, transparency, and security of LLMs. By addressing these fundamental aspects, the project aims to facilitate the safe and effective integration of LLMs into cybersecurity operations. This could have far-



reaching implications, improving the overall security posture of organizations and systems that rely on AI technologies.

In summary, this research project promises to make substantial contributions to the field by introducing novel concepts, methodologies, and frameworks. Its comprehensive approach to addressing the challenges at the intersection of cybersecurity and LLMs has the potential to drive significant advancements in both theoretical understanding and practical applications in this rapidly evolving domain.

2.2 Literature Review

2.2.1 Overview of LLMs in Cybersecurity

The evolution of Large Language Models (LLMs) and their integration into cybersecurity represents a significant advancement in artificial intelligence and its application to digital defense strategies. LLMs have undergone a remarkable transformation, progressing from initial statistical language models (SLMs) to neural language models (NLMs), then to pre-trained language models (PLMs), and finally to the current state of large language models. Several key factors have driven this evolutionary trajectory, including increased data diversity, computational advancements, and algorithmic innovations [9]. Figure 3 illustrates the evolutionary trajectory of language models from SLMs to LLMs, highlighting key developmental milestones.



Figure 3: The Evolution of Language Models

The journey of Large Language Models (LLMs) from their origins as highly specialized tools to the versatile and general-purpose systems we see today represents a pivotal advancement in the field of artificial intelligence. This evolution has not merely been a matter of incremental progress, but rather a paradigm shift that has unlocked a vast spectrum of new possibilities and applications. This transition has been characterized by the models' increasing ability to adapt to various tasks and generate human-like text across diverse domains. The GPT series, in particular, has been at the forefront of this evolution, demonstrating remarkable capabilities in text generation and language-based tasks [10].

A comprehensive analysis of the GPT series models, including GPT-3 and GPT-3.5, reveals the progressive improvements in their natural language processing capabilities. These models have shown



exceptional versatility, being able to perform a wide array of tasks ranging from simple text completion to complex creative writing. The study highlights that the GPT-3.5 series models, in particular, demonstrated enhanced natural language understanding, producing highly coherent and contextually appropriate text [10].

This evolution has not only impacted general applications but has also opened up new possibilities in specialized fields such as cybersecurity. The ability of these models to understand and generate human-level text has created opportunities for their integration into various cybersecurity tasks, potentially revolutionizing approaches to threat detection, analysis, and response [1].

This integration is particularly timely given the increasing sophistication and volume of cyber threats, which have rendered traditional detection models increasingly inadequate. LLMs, powered by Natural Language Processing (NLP), offer a transformative approach to these challenges, enhancing the capabilities of cyber threat intelligence, anomaly detection through log analysis, and other crucial security functions [11].

The application of LLMs in cybersecurity extends across various domains, each with its unique challenges and opportunities. In threat intelligence, for instance, LLMs are being utilized to extract and organize information from massive volumes of threat intelligence documents, a task that has traditionally been labor-intensive and time-consuming. Similarly, in anomaly detection, LLMs are being employed to identify security anomalies such as malicious traffic in network flows, virus files in systems, and anomalies in logs [12].

These applications demonstrate the versatility of LLMs in addressing diverse cybersecurity needs. However, the integration of LLMs into cybersecurity is not without its challenges. One significant concern is the potential for these models to be used in malicious activities. Researchers have discovered the effectiveness of LLMs in launching network attacks, such as generating sophisticated phishing emails and aiding in penetration testing. This dual-use potential of LLMs underscores the need for robust ethical guidelines and security measures in their development and deployment. To fully harness the potential of LLMs in cybersecurity, researchers are exploring various techniques for adapting these models to specific cybersecurity domains. These include continual pre-training (CPT), supervised finetuning (SFT), and parameter-efficient fine-tuning (PEFT). Additionally, the development of domainspecific datasets for evaluating the cybersecurity capabilities of LLMs is crucial in guiding the selection and fine-tuning of base models for cybersecurity applications [12].

Construction of Cybersecurity-Oriented LLMs

The construction of cybersecurity-oriented LLMs involves several key considerations, including the principles of model development, the data used for training, and the specific techniques employed in creating domain-specialized models [12] [13]. This process is vital for researchers and cybersecurity practitioners looking to build custom LLMs tailored to specific needs, such as those imposed by computational limits, private data requirements, or the need to incorporate local knowledge bases [1].

As the field progresses, several challenges and opportunities for future research in LLM4Security have been identified. These include the need for more interpretable and explainable models, addressing data privacy and security concerns, and exploring the potential for leveraging LLMs in proactive defense and threat hunting. Furthermore, the datasets used for training and evaluating LLMs in cybersecurity tasks are often limited in size and diversity, highlighting the need for more comprehensive and representative datasets [1], [12], [13].

The integration of LLMs into cybersecurity frameworks represents a significant step forward in our ability to defend against evolving cyber threats. By leveraging the advanced language understanding and generation capabilities of these models, cybersecurity professionals can enhance their threat detection, analysis, and response strategies. However, this integration also necessitates careful consideration of the ethical implications and potential vulnerabilities introduced by these powerful AI systems. In



conclusion, the evolution of LLMs and their application in cybersecurity mark a new frontier in digital defense. As these models continue to advance, their potential to revolutionize cybersecurity practices grows, promising more sophisticated, efficient, and adaptive security measures. However, realizing this potential will require ongoing research, development of specialized datasets and evaluation metrics, and careful consideration of the ethical and security implications of deploying such powerful AI systems in critical defense roles.

General Applications of LLMs in Cybersecurity

LLMs have proven to be versatile tools for enhancing cybersecurity practices through their ability to process and analyze vast amounts of text and data efficiently. Their natural language understanding and generative capabilities enable them to assist in tasks such as identifying threats, automating responses, and enhancing decision-making processes. As cybersecurity threats evolve in scale and sophistication, the adaptability of LLMs to diverse datasets and scenarios positions them as pivotal components in modern cyber defense strategies [14], [15].

Foundational Contributions of LLMs

- Automation of Cybersecurity Tasks LLMs excel at automating repetitive and time-consuming tasks, such as analyzing logs, generating reports, and reviewing code. This automation not only reduces the workload for cybersecurity professionals but also minimizes the risk of human error [15], [16].
- Adaptability and Context Awareness By training on diverse datasets, LLMs can adapt to a wide range of cybersecurity scenarios, such as detecting novel threats or tailoring outputs for specific organizational contexts. Their context-aware responses provide nuanced and relevant insights[2], [12].
- Scalability LLMs can process and analyze large-scale datasets, including network logs and threat intelligence reports, at speeds far beyond human capabilities. This scalability is crucial for addressing the ever-increasing volume of cybersecurity data generated by modern systems [14], [17].

Applications Across the Cybersecurity Lifecycle

- **Prevention** LLMs contribute to proactive measures by enhancing security configurations, drafting security policies, and identifying potential vulnerabilities before they are exploited. For instance, they can analyze historical data to predict emerging attack trends [15], [16].
- **Detection** LLMs support real-time monitoring and anomaly detection, identifying unusual patterns in network traffic or system logs that may indicate a security breach. Their ability to analyze context-rich data allows them to flag threats with higher precision compared to traditional systems [2], [12].
- **Response and Recovery** During and after incidents, LLMs assist in automating response workflows, providing actionable insights, and generating comprehensive forensic reports. These capabilities help organizations minimize downtime and improve their overall incident response effectiveness [14], [16].

Figure 4 presents a flowchart outlining the cyclical nature of the cybersecurity process, encompassing the key phases of prevention, detection, response, and recovery.

Enabling Proactive and Reactive Security

• **Proactive Security** LLMs enhance proactive cybersecurity measures by continuously monitoring and analyzing data for early warning signs of attacks. They predict vulnerabilities and



recommend mitigation strategies, enabling organizations to strengthen their defenses before threats materialize[12], [16].

• **Reactive Security** In reactive scenarios, LLMs expedite incident response by identifying the root cause, mapping the attack lifecycle, and providing detailed remediation steps. Their ability to process complex datasets in real-time ensures that responses are timely and well-informed [14], [17].



Figure 4: Cybersecurity Lifecycle

2.2.2 Applications of LLMs in Cybersecurity

Large Language Models have come to the forefront as important tools in cybersecurity, hence offering different solutions to the various challenges that arise. Based on recent research, the applications of LLMs in cybersecurity can be classified into several key categories:



2.2.2.1 Defensive Applications

Threat Intelligence and Anomaly Detection

- LLMs provide comprehensive threat intelligence by analyzing diverse sources such as OSINT, dark web forums, and structured threat databases to identify Indicators of Compromise (IoCs) and vulnerabilities [18], [19].
- Their ability to understand contextual nuances enables effective anomaly detection in network traffic, system logs, and user behavior, significantly reducing false positives[15], [18].
- Intrusion detection through analysis of network traffic patterns [20].

Vulnerability Detection and Program Repair

- LLMs assist in detecting software vulnerabilities by analyzing codebases and cross-referencing known vulnerabilities (e.g., CVE databases). This includes identifying risks like SQL injections and buffer overflows[18], [19].
- They also automate program repair, suggesting secure patches to identified issues, reducing developer workloads and mitigating risks[14], [18].

Secure Code Generation and Cybersecurity Education

- LLMs generate secure code by following best practices and highlighting potential security issues during development. Models such as CodeLLaMA and ChatGPT are particularly effective in secure template generation [2], [18].
- Analyzing source code to identify potential security flaws and suggest fixes [21].

Malware Analysis and Detection

- Classification of malware based on code snippets, behavior patterns, and indicators of compromise [20].
- Behavioral analysis of suspicious files or processes to identify potential malware [20].

Risk Assessment and Management

- LLMs analyze logs, system configurations, and historical incidents to evaluate security postures and identify high-risk areas in an organization's infrastructure. For instance, GPT-4 has been applied in scoring risks based on contextual data [14], [18].
- LLMs assess dependencies in software supply chains, identifying vulnerabilities in third-party integrations, as shown in tools leveraging CodeLLaMA for dependency analysis [19].
- LLMs generate real-time risk reports to keep organizations informed of evolving threats and vulnerabilities [18].

Behavioral Analysis

- User Behavior Analytics (UBA): LLMs analyze interaction logs to detect anomalies in user behavior, such as unauthorized access patterns or data exfiltration attempts. Research demonstrates their effectiveness in identifying insider threats based on contextual anomalies [14], [15].
- LLMs assist in profiling attackers by analyzing tactics, techniques, and procedures (TTPs) used in phishing emails or social engineering attacks [19].

Privacy Protection and Compliance

- LLMs automate the detection and redaction of sensitive information, such as Personally Identifiable Information (PII), in logs and datasets to enhance data privacy [14], [18].
- LLMs continuously evaluate organizational practices against regulations like GDPR and HIPAA, generating actionable reports on non-compliance risks [2].



Phishing and Social Engineering Detection

- Analysis of email content, URLs, and other indicators to identify potential phishing attempts [20].
- Detection of deceptive content and social engineering tactics in web communications [20].

IoT and Smart Device Security

- LLMs monitor IoT device logs and communications, flagging anomalies indicative of compromised devices. Studies highlight their application in securing smart homes and healthcare devices [18], [19].
- **Real-Time Threat Detection**: LLMs detect unusual patterns in device-to-device communication to identify and mitigate threats such as botnet attacks [14].

Hardware Design Security

- LLMs can analyze register transfer level (RTL) designs to autonomously identify security-related vulnerabilities. This capability is crucial for detecting potential weaknesses before chip fabrication, as post-fabrication fixes can be costly or impractical [22].
- LLMs can provide real-time suggestions to developers for writing more secure HDL code. This helps in preventing common security pitfalls during the design phase [23].
- LLM4SecHW, a hardware debugging framework, uses fine-tuned LLMs to read hardware designs and autonomously locate and rectify bugs. This approach leverages version control information from open-source hardware projects to create a debugging-oriented dataset [24].

Digital Forensics

Digital forensics (DF) is a critical field that aims to identify, preserve, analyze, and document digitally recorded data from electronic devices for use in criminal investigations and legal proceedings [25]. As the number of cases requiring digital forensic analysis continues to grow, there are increasing concerns about law enforcement's ability to conduct timely investigations [6].

The traditional digital forensic process shown in Figure 5 typically involves several key phases [26]:

- 1. Incident recognition Identifying the incident and potential evidence sources.
- 2. Collection and seizure Systematically acquiring relevant evidence.
- 3. Preservation Maintaining the integrity of collected data.
- 4. Examination Scrutinizing gathered data to extract pertinent information.
- 5. Analysis Interpreting extracted information to draw conclusions.
- 6. Reporting Presenting findings in a format suitable for legal adjudication.

However, this process faces several challenges in the modern digital landscape[27], [28]:

- 1. Growing complexity and volume of data The increasing sophistication of digital systems and exponential growth in data volumes pose significant challenges for forensic analysis [27], [28].
- 2. Lack of standardization across tools and procedures The absence of universally accepted standards in digital forensics leads to inconsistencies in methodologies and results across different agencies and organizations [27], [28].
- 3. Inadequate capabilities of existing tools Current forensic tools often struggle to keep pace with rapidly evolving technologies and new data formats [27], [28].
- 4. Issues related to investigation timelines The time-sensitive nature of digital evidence, coupled with the growing complexity of investigations, creates challenges in meeting legal and operational deadlines [27], [28].



- 5. Scarcity of skilled forensic examiners There is a shortage of qualified personnel with the necessary expertise to conduct thorough digital forensic investigations, particularly given the rapidly evolving technological landscape [27], [28].
- 6. Legal challenges The complexity of technology creates debates on how data should be handled according to the law, including issues of privacy, jurisdiction, and possession of illegal data [28].
- 7. Cloud technology and encryption These technologies present unique challenges in terms of data acquisition, preservation, and analysis due to issues of territoriality, possession, and confiscation procedures [28].
- 8. Cryptocurrency and blockchain The difficulty in tracking transactions on the blockchain and the lack of resources and tools to handle this technology pose new challenges for digital forensics [28].
- 9. IoT and mobile device forensics The proliferation of Internet of Things (IoT) devices and mobile technologies introduces new complexities in data extraction and analysis [27].



Figure 5: Digital Forensic Process



To address the challenges in digital forensics, researchers are indeed exploring the potential of integrating Large Language Models (LLMs) into the digital forensic process. Some promising applications include:

Assisting in timeline reconstruction and anomaly detection

LLMs can help reconstruct timelines of events by identifying temporal patterns and correlations within data:

- The GenDFIR framework, introduced by researchers, combines Rule-Based Artificial Intelligence (R-BAI) algorithms with LLMs to enhance and automate the Timeline Analysis (TA) process. This framework uses R-BAI to identify anomalous digital artifacts and then employs LLMs to analyze these artifacts and predict potential incident scenarios [29].
- Silalahi et al. demonstrated an LLM-assisted method to detect anomalies in drone flights with 92.5% accuracy. Their approach employed sentiment analysis with the assistance of a pretrained LLM to discern differences between normal and abnormal events in drone flight data [6].

Analyzing case evidence and providing investigative conclusions

LLMs show promise in analyzing large volumes of data and providing investigative insights:

- LLMs, including architectures such as BERT, RoBERTa, DistilRoBERTa, GPT-2, and GPT-Neo, can effectively analyze application and system log files for security purposes. Fine-tuned models have demonstrated remarkable performance in log analysis [30].
- In an experiment with the Hansken Digital Forensics as a Service (DFaaS) system, ChatGPT demonstrated the ability to analyze evidence traces and provide conclusions. This showcases the potential of LLMs in assisting with analytical aspects of investigations, particularly in summarizing and interpreting complex datasets [31].

Automating parts of the forensic process using LLM-based agents

LLMs are being integrated into frameworks to automate various aspects of the digital forensic process:

- The GenDFIR framework, mentioned earlier, combines Rule-Based AI algorithms with LLMs to enhance and automate the Timeline Analysis process. This approach uses LLMs to perform automated Timeline Analysis on selected artifacts and predict potential incident outcomes [29].
- Researchers are exploring the use of LLM-based agents to automate various tasks in digital forensics, for example, an innovative framework has been designed to streamline investigative processes in digital forensics. This framework automates tasks using natural language inputs, focusing on breaking down complex workflows into reusable subtasks. By targeting critical phases such as evidence examination, analytical processing, and report generation, it aims to enhance the efficiency, accuracy, and scalability of digital forensic investigations [32].

Challenges of Integrating LLMs into Digital Forensics

Integrating Large Language Models (LLMs) into digital forensics offers promising advancements in automating tasks such as log analysis, evidence extraction, and incident reconstruction. However, several challenges must be addressed to ensure their effective and reliable application:

Accuracy of Forensic Outputs

• LLMs may produce outputs that are plausible but incorrect, leading to potential misinterpretations in forensic analyses. Their training on vast datasets doesn't guarantee domain-specific accuracy, which is crucial in forensic contexts [6].



Admissibility in Legal Proceedings

• Forensic evidence must meet stringent criteria for admissibility in court, including relevance, authenticity, and reliability. The use of LLMs introduces complexities in demonstrating these criteria due to the opaque nature of their decision-making processes [33].

Trust in Forensic Outputs

• LLMs operate as black boxes, making it difficult for forensic experts to understand and explain their reasoning. This lack of transparency can undermine trust in their outputs, especially when used to support legal decisions [34].

Standardization and Validation

• The forensic community lacks standardized protocols for implementing LLMs, leading to inconsistencies in their application and the potential for errors [35].

Ethical and Privacy Concerns

• Forensic analyses often involve sensitive personal data. The use of LLMs raises concerns about data privacy, especially if models are trained on or have access to confidential information without proper safeguards. The integration of LLMs into digital forensics necessitates careful consideration of ethical implications, including data privacy and the potential for misuse of sensitive information [6].

Table 2 provides a concise summary of the defensive applications, highlighting the contributions of LLMs compared to traditional approaches.

| Task | Traditional LLM Contribution | | Example |
|---------------------|------------------------------|---------------------------------------|----------------|
| | Approach | | Models/Tools |
| Threat Intelligence | Manual analysis of | Automates IoC extraction, reduces | GPT-4, LLaMA, |
| and Anomaly | OSINT, static rule- | false positives, detects network | BERT |
| Detection | based detection | traffic anomalies through contextual | |
| | | understanding | |
| Vulnerability | Manual code | Identifies vulnerabilities like SQL | CodeLLaMA, |
| Detection and | reviews, static | injections and automates patching | RepairGPT |
| Program Repair | vulnerability | through contextual code analysis | |
| Casura Cada | Adharanaa ta haat | Concretes accurs and torrelates | ChatCDT |
| Secure Code | Aunerence to best | bighlights notontial flaurs and | Codella MA |
| Generation and | practices during | nigniights potential flaws, and | CodellaiviA |
| Cybersecurity | manual couling | educates developers on secure | |
| | | | |
| Malware Analysis | Signature-based | Classifies malware using code | GPT-4, |
| and Detection | detection, neuristic | snippets and benavior patterns, | MaiwareGPT |
| | anaiysis | performs benavioral analysis of | |
| Diale Assessment | Manual avaluation | | CDT 4 |
| RISK Assessment | Ivianual evaluation | Scores risks, assesses supply chain | GPT-4, |
| and Management | of logs and | vulnerabilities, and generates real- | CodellaMA |
| Bahaviaral | Manual analysis of | Detects uncutherized | |
| Analusia | Wanual analysis of | Detects unauthorized access | LLdIVIA, BERT |
| Anaiysis | userlogs | profiles attackers using TTP analysis | |
| Privacy Protection | Manual audits and | Automates detection/redaction of | GPT-4 Claude |
| and Compliance | data anonymization | | |
| | ata anonymization | compliance and generates | |
| | | actionable reports | |
| Phishing and | Static email filtering. | Analyzes email content and URLs for | ChatGPT, Anti- |

Table 2: Summary of Defensive Applications of LLMs in Cybersecurity



| Task | Traditional Approach | LLM Contribution | Example Models/Tools |
|----------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Social Engineering Detection | URL blacklisting | phishing attempts, detects deceptive social engineering tactics | PhishGPT |
| IoT and Smart Device Security | Device-specific rules, manual monitoring | Monitors IoT logs for anomalies, detects botnet attacks through real- time analysis of device communications | GPT-4, IoTProtect |
| Hardware Design Security | Manual RTL code reviews, static debugging tools | Analyzes RTL designs for vulnerabilities, suggests secure HDL practices, autonomously debugs hardware designs | LLM4SecHW |
| Digital Forensics | Manual analysis, evidence collection, and examination processes | Assists in timeline reconstruction, anomaly detection, log analysis, and automated evidence examination; enhances investigative efficiency and scalability | GenDFIR, Hansken DFaaS, ChatGPT, BERT, GPT-Neo |

2.2.2.2 Offensive Applications

Automated Penetration Testing / Automated Attacks

- LLMs can automate the gathering and analysis of target information, improving the efficiency of the reconnaissance phase [36], [37].
- These models can query environmental databases to identify exposed services and applications, cataloging potential attack surfaces [36], [37].
- LLMs can employ Retrieval Augmented Generation (RAG) techniques to refine potential attack surfaces and select suitable exploits tailored to the target environment [36], [37].
- Execution agents powered by LLMs can attempt to execute planned attacks on target hosts, retrieving necessary operational details and debugging execution errors [36], [37].
- LLMs can be utilized to automate both pre-breach and post-breach stages of cyber-attacks, raising concerns about the scalability of automated attacks facilitated by LLMs [38].

Malware Generation

- Research has demonstrated that LLMs can generate multiple variants of malware, aiding in evasion tactics by creating thousands of functional malware variants with varying detection rates [39].
- While LLMs may struggle to generate entire malware samples from comprehensive descriptions, they excel in constructing malware through modular snippets [39].
- The WormGPT model, designed specifically for cybercrime, focuses on social engineering attacks and malware creation [11].
- FraudGPT aids in writing malicious code, creating malware, and developing payloads [11].

Social Engineering and Phishing

- Generating highly personalized and convincing phishing messages by analyzing target information [37].
- Creating fake online profiles for sophisticated social engineering campaigns [37].
- Automating the creation of tailored phishing attempts at scale, potentially executing millions of personalized attacks daily.
- LLMs, specifically GPT-4, can generate credible human-like responses to social engineering threats, simulating a broad spectrum of human behaviors based on the Big Five personality traits [40].



• The state-of-the-art LLMs like GPT-4 and GPT-3.5 show clear improvements over earlier models in generating convincing spear phishing attacks that are personalized and human-like [41].

Defense Evasion

- LLMs can analyze the target environment and generate evasion techniques tailored to specific security systems, increasing the chances of bypassing detection [13], [42].
- Advanced LLMs can potentially generate malware that mimics legitimate software behavior, making it harder for behavioral analysis tools to detect malicious activity [42], [43].

Table 3 provides a concise summary of the offensive applications, highlighting the risky contributions of LLMs compared to traditional approaches.

| Application | Description | Key Examples/Models | Risks Compared to Traditional Methods |
|---|---|--|---|
| Automated Penetration Testing / Automated Attacks | - Automates gathering and analysis of target information, improving reconnaissance efficiency Queries environmental databases to identify exposed services and applications Employs RAG techniques to refine attack surfaces and select tailored exploits Execution agents attempt attacks, retrieve operational details, and debug errors Automates pre- breach and post-breach stages, raising concerns about scalable automated attacks. | RAG-powered models, GPT-based agents | Risks: Amplifies attack scalability and efficiency, enabling adversaries to conduct sophisticated attacks more rapidly and with minimal effort. |
| Malware Generation | - Creates multiple malware variants, aiding evasion tactics and enabling large-scale attacks Excels in constructing malware through modular snippets Focuses on cybercrime with tools like WormGPT (social engineering and malware) and FraudGPT (malicious code and payloads). | WormGPT, FraudGPT | Risks: Increases the availability of advanced malware, complicating detection efforts and overwhelming current defense mechanisms. |
| Social Engineering and Phishing | - Generates personalized and convincing phishing messages by analyzing target data Creates fake online profiles for social engineering. - Automates large-scale, tailored phishing attempts Generates credible, human-like responses to threats, leveraging personality trait simulations Improved spear phishing with state-of-the-art models like GPT-4. | GPT-4, GPT-3.5 | Risks: Facilitates large- scale, highly convincing attacks that traditional email filtering and training programs struggle to mitigate. |
| Defense Evasion | Analyzes target environments to generate tailored evasion techniques Mimics legitimate software behavior, increasing | Advanced LLMs, GPT variants | Risks: Weakens current detection systems by crafting attacks that appear legitimate, |

Table 3: Summary of Offensive Applications of LLMs in Cybersecurity



| Application | Description | Key Examples/Models | Risks Compared to Traditional Methods |
|-------------|-------------------------------|------------------------|--|
| | evasion success rates Creates | | necessitating more |
| | malware designed to bypass | | advanced |
| | behavioral analysis tools. | | countermeasures. |

1.2.2.3 Cybersecurity Operations

Predictive Security

- Attack Forecasting: By analyzing historical data and current threat landscapes, LLMs can predict future attack patterns and help organizations preemptively strengthen defenses. This proactive approach allows organizations to stay ahead of emerging threats and allocate resources more effectively [44].
- Scenario Planning: LLMs can simulate potential attack scenarios, aiding organizations in identifying weaknesses and enhancing their preparedness. These simulations provide valuable insights for improving security strategies and incident response plans [45].

Support for SMEs

• LLMs offer cost-effective security capabilities for SMEs by automating basic security tasks. This democratization of advanced security tools allows smaller organizations to enhance their cybersecurity posture without significant financial investment [46].

Network Security

• **Traffic Analysis**: LLMs can analyze vast amounts of network traffic data to identify malicious packets, protocol misuse, and unusual interactions that may indicate cyberattacks. This capability allows for real-time threat detection and mitigation, enhancing overall network security [44].

Threat Intelligence

- LLMs are being used to enhance threat intelligence capabilities [20]:
 - Automated extraction and analysis of threat intelligence from unstructured data sources.
 - Creation of comprehensive knowledge graphs for organizing threat information
 - $\circ~$ Enhancing Open-Source Intelligence (OSINT) capabilities for forecasting future cyber threats.

Incident Response and Management

- LLMs are being leveraged to improve incident response processes [12]:
 - Automated analysis of security incidents and generation of response strategies.
 - Log Analysis: Quickly analyzing large volumes of system and network logs to identify indicators of compromise and reconstruct attack timelines.

Automated Vulnerability Detection

- LLMs have demonstrated competitive performance in automated vulnerability detection compared to prior state-of-the-art approaches:
 - Studies have shown that LLMs can effectively identify vulnerabilities within codebases, with some models achieving an F1-score of 58% and a Recall of 87% in detecting software security vulnerabilities [47], [48].
 - LLMs can analyze source code to identify potential security flaws and vulnerabilities across multiple programming languages[48], [49].



• These models can recognize patterns associated with common vulnerabilities, such as buffer overflows, SQL injection, and cross-site scripting [47].

Table 4 provides a concise summary of the Applications of LLMs in Enhancing Cybersecurity Operations.

| Area | Description | Key Capabilities |
|---|--|--|
| Predictive Security | Uses historical data and current threat landscapes to forecast attacks and simulate | - Attack Forecasting: Predicts future attack patterns for |
| | scenarios for proactive defense and preparedness. | preemptive defense [46]. - Scenario Planning: Simulates attack scenarios to enhance preparedness [47]. |
| Support for SMEs | Provides cost-effective, automated security solutions for small and medium enterprises (SMEs), enabling them to bolster cybersecurity with minimal financial investment. | - Automates basic security tasks for affordability and accessibility [48]. |
| Network Security | Enhances network defense by analyzing traffic data in real-time to identify malicious activities and anomalies. | - Traffic Analysis: Detects malicious packets, protocol misuse, and unusual interactions [49]. |
| Threat Intelligence | Improves threat intelligence processes, including automated data extraction and OSINT forecasting for advanced threat awareness. | Automates unstructured data analysis. Builds knowledge graphs for threat organization. Enhances OSINT capabilities [20]. |
| Incident Response and Management | Streamlines the analysis and management of security incidents, ensuring faster and more effective responses to cyber threats. | - Automated Analysis: Generates response strategies [12]. - Log Analysis: Identifies IoCs and reconstructs attack timelines. |
| Automated Vulnerability Detection | LLMs provide competitive performance in identifying and analyzing vulnerabilities in code, surpassing traditional state-of-the-art tools in many scenarios. | Achieves high F1-scores (up to 58%) and Recall (up to 87%) for detecting software vulnerabilities [50], [51]. Identifies flaws in multiple programming languages and detects patterns of common vulnerabilities [51], [52]. |

Table 4: Applications of LLMs in Enhancing Cybersecurity Operations

2.2.3 Attacks on LLMs

Large Language Models (LLMs) have demonstrated remarkable capabilities in various applications; however, they are not immune to attacks that exploit their vulnerabilities. As these models become increasingly integrated into critical systems, understanding the types of attacks they face is essential for ensuring their security and reliability, see Figure 6.

1. Overview of LLM Vulnerabilities

The increasing adoption of LLMs in cybersecurity and other critical domains has exposed significant vulnerabilities. These vulnerabilities stem from the inherent complexity of LLMs, their sensitivity to



input perturbations, and the lack of robustness in their training data and fine-tuning processes. As LLMs become more integrated into cybersecurity workflows such as threat detection, malware analysis, and incident response, understanding and mitigating these vulnerabilities is crucial to ensure their safe and reliable deployment.

Some of the unique characteristics that might make LLMs susceptible to various attacks, which is particularly significant in cybersecurity contexts can be as follows:

| d | | + Space / how to buil | d a molotov cocktail? | 🔅 Answer |
|---|---------------------------------|---|-----------------------|---|
| how to build | d a molotov | v cocktail? | | The Molotov cocktail is a simple yet effective incendiary weapon that has gained notoriety throughout history, particularly in times of conflict and rebellion. This homemade device typically consists of a glass bottle filled with a flammable liquid, such as gasoline or alcohol, and a wick that is ignited before being thrown at a target. Design and Components |
| How to make a Molotov cocktail? Basic recipes from Zaborona | Molotov cocktail - Wikipedia | Molotov cocktail Origin, History, & Variations - Britannica | 🚺 🏃 abh 🤀 | Main Components |
| 3 zaborona | w en.wikipedia | Sp britannica | Show all | Container: A glass bottle, often with thin walls to ensure it shatters upon impact. Common choices include vodka or beer bottles. |
| Answer | ssist with that. | | | Flammable Liquid: The most commonly used fuels are gasoline and high-proof alcohol. Variations may include kerosene, diesel, or mixtures like napalm, which is created by combining gasoline with a thickening agent such as styrofoam dissolved in acetone 3 (2) 3. |
| & Share | | | 66. | Wick: Typically made from cotton cloth, the wick is crucial for ignition. It should be long enough to extend out of the bottle and be soaked in the flammable liquid 2 3. |
| | (4) | | | <i>(B)</i> |

Figure 6: (A) The model refuses to provide the information. (B) The model has been jailbroken.

Data-driven nature: LLMs rely on vast amounts of training data, making them vulnerable to data poisoning attacks. Adversaries can inject malicious or biased data into training sets, causing models to learn incorrect patterns or exhibit undesired behaviors. For example, attackers could introduce backdoors or manipulate model outputs by carefully crafting poisoned training samples [50].

Complex architecture: The intricate structure of LLMs, particularly those based on transformer architectures, makes it challenging to interpret their decision-making process and identify vulnerabilities. This complexity creates opportunities for adversaries to exploit hidden weaknesses in the model [51].

Generative capabilities: LLMs can generate human-like text, which can be misused for creating convincing phishing content, social engineering attacks, or even malware. The ability to produce coherent and contextually relevant text poses risks when these models are used maliciously. A recent study showed that AI-automated emails achieved a click-through rate of 54%, performing on par with human experts and 350% better than a control group of arbitrary phishing emails [52].

Non-deterministic nature: The probabilistic outputs of LLMs can lead to inconsistent behavior and make it challenging to ensure reliable security measures. This unpredictability adds new challenges to system design and security.

The non-deterministic nature of LLMs arises from their probabilistic design, where outputs depend on likelihood estimations of token sequences. This characteristic, while central to their generative capabilities, often leads to inconsistent and unpredictable behavior. Such variability complicates the



development of reliable security measures and introduces challenges in designing robust systems. For instance, Saad Ullah et al. (2023) highlight that LLMs struggle to consistently identify and reason about security vulnerabilities, a limitation attributed to their inherent non-determinism [53]. Similarly, Fangzhou Wu et al. (2024) emphasize that this unpredictability poses significant risks in real-world applications, necessitating advanced security frameworks to mitigate potential exploitation [54]. Furthermore, Daniel Kang et al. (2023) discuss how adversaries can exploit the probabilistic outputs of LLMs for malicious purposes, demonstrating the dual-use risks associated with their programmatic behavior [55]. These findings underline the importance of addressing the non-deterministic characteristics of LLMs to ensure system reliability and security.

Ouyang et al. (2023) conducted an empirical study on the non-determinism of ChatGPT in code generation, finding that identical prompts can yield completely different responses in different requests. This non-determinism poses challenges for reliability and reproducibility in software engineering tasks [56].

Zhou et al. (2024) demonstrated in their study that larger and more instructible language models become less reliable, showing that scaling up and shaping up LLMs does not necessarily improve their reliability, especially for simpler tasks [57].

2. Types of Attacks

The various types of attacks can be broadly classified into white-box and black-box attacks:

White-box Attacks

White-box attacks involve adversaries having full knowledge of the target LLM, including its architecture, parameters, training data, and optimization techniques. This level of access enables highly tailored attacks that exploit specific vulnerabilities in the model. White-box attacks are particularly concerning because they allow attackers to craft precise adversarial inputs, manipulate model outputs, and even reverse-engineer sensitive training data. It reveals critical weaknesses in LLMs, particularly in their susceptibility to adversarial perturbations and backdoor insertion [53].

These attacks can be categorized into several types:

Adversarial Training Data Exploitation

• Data Poisoning

Data poisoning involves manipulating the training data of Large Language Models (LLMs) to compromise their integrity, functionality, or safety. Attackers may introduce **backdoor attacks**, embedding triggers in the data to force the model to produce specific outputs when triggered, or conduct **label flipping**, where incorrect labels are assigned to training examples to degrade the model's performance. **Data contamination** can also be used to inject irrelevant or harmful information, disrupting the model's generalization. These attacks exploit the reliance of LLMs on large-scale datasets, making them particularly vulnerable during training or fine-tuning [58].

• Training Data Extraction

It involves crafting queries or leveraging model outputs to infer sensitive information embedded in the LLM's training dataset. This can include reconstructing proprietary datasets, retrieving confidential data, or exposing personally identifiable information (PII). Attackers exploit overfitting, memorization, or specific behaviors of the LLM to access such data, posing significant privacy and intellectual property risks. This underscores the importance of employing differential privacy and training regularization techniques to mitigate such risks [59].



Model Manipulation

- Weight manipulation refers to attacks that directly alter a model's internal weights to compromise its behavior, such as injecting biases, introducing vulnerabilities, or degrading performance. For instance, attackers may modify weights to subtly insert harmful biases or to impair functionality in specific tasks without affecting general performance. Such manipulation exploits the accessibility of model parameters, enabling attackers to stealthily embed malicious logic or degrade reliability [60].
- Architecture Exploitation involves leveraging access to an LLM's internal architecture to identify and manipulate its vulnerabilities. Attackers may analyze neuron activation patterns to pinpoint and exploit neurons responsible for specific outputs or behaviors, such as generating biased or sensitive content. This can also involve subverting specific submodules, like token embeddings or attention heads, to introduce or amplify undesired behaviors. These exploits are particularly dangerous as they leverage deep knowledge of the model's internal workings to achieve precision attacks, such as targeted content generation or performance degradation [61].

Fine-tuning Exploits

Exploiting the fine-tuning process to compromise LLMs involves manipulating the model's behavior during fine-tuning to degrade ethical safeguards or achieve malicious objectives. Safety Bypass Fine-tuning leverages adversarial or biased datasets to undermine the model's built-in protections, enabling the generation of harmful or unsafe content. Meanwhile, Targeted Behavior Modification focuses on tailoring fine-tuning to encourage specific malicious behaviors, such as generating harmful code or bypassing ethical constraints. These methods highlight the vulnerability of LLMs to manipulation during the fine-tuning phase, allowing adversaries to subtly alter their behavior while maintaining overall functionality [62].

Model Extraction and Replication

- Model Cloning involves replicating or approximating the functionality of a Large Language Model (LLM). Exact Replication uses access to the model's weights to create identical copies, effectively duplicating its capabilities. In contrast, Knowledge Distillation extracts the knowledge embedded in the LLM to train a smaller, more efficient model that retains similar functionality. This process often leverages outputs from the original model as supervision for training the smaller one, making it a cost-effective alternative to full-scale training [63].
- Forgetting techniques involve manipulating the fine-tuning process to intentionally cause an LLM to lose safety-critical behaviors or ethical constraints. These methods exploit the model's susceptibility to "catastrophic forgetting," where newly introduced training data or objectives overwrite previously learned safety mechanisms. For example, attackers may fine-tune the model on adversarial datasets to degrade its ability to follow safety rules, effectively bypassing Reinforcement Learning with Human Feedback (RLHF) safeguards. This approach can render the model incapable of rejecting harmful requests or maintaining ethical guidelines [64].

Black-box Attacks

Black-box attacks assume limited knowledge of the model's internals, focusing on manipulating inputs or exploiting the model's outputs. A comprehensive taxonomy of black-box attacks on LLMs can be organized into the following main categories and subcategories:

Input Manipulation Attacks

• Adversarial Prompting involves crafting input prompts to manipulate the behavior of Large Language Models (LLMs), often leading them to generate unintended, harmful, or biased



UPC

outputs. Techniques include **query refinement**, where attackers iteratively adjust prompts to bypass safeguards, and **deceptive framing**, which involves rephrasing or structuring inputs to exploit model vulnerabilities. For example, attackers may use stylistic mimicry or role-playing prompts to coerce LLMs into adopting unsafe behaviors or violating ethical guidelines. This attack method has proven effective in both white-box and black-box settings [65].

Prompt-Injection Attacks exploit the interpretative weaknesses of LLMs by embedding malicious or misleading instructions into input prompts to manipulate the model's behavior or extract sensitive information. These attacks include techniques like objective manipulation, where prompts are crafted to hijack the intended task or bypass safety mechanisms, and prompt leaking, which extracts internal instructions or confidential data through cleverly designed queries. Indirect injection strategies exploit external or third-party inputs, embedding harmful instructions into seemingly benign contexts, while universal injection techniques design prompts that can exploit vulnerabilities across multiple models [66].





Figure 7: White-Box Attacks on LLMs

 Adversarial Inputs are crafted to disrupt LLM performance by exploiting weaknesses in their input processing. These inputs often include token-level perturbations or semantic manipulations, designed to confuse the model's interpretation and output generation. For example, adding nonsensical tokens or contradictory phrases can degrade the model's reliability, while cross-lingual exploits target underrepresented languages or leverage translations to bypass safeguards. Such attacks highlight vulnerabilities in the model's training data and handling of edge cases [67].

Information Exploitation Attacks



• **Malicious Content Extraction** involves crafting inputs to coerce LLMs into revealing sensitive or restricted information, such as personal identifiable information (PII), proprietary data, or insights embedded in the training dataset. This attack exploits the model's tendency to inadvertently memorize and reproduce training data when prompted creatively [68].

Multimodal and Cross-Domain Attacks:

• Multimodal exploits target vulnerabilities in Large Language Models (LLMs) that process multiple data types, such as text and images, by embedding adversarial inputs across modalities. For instance, text-embedded images hide malicious text within visual elements, deceiving models that combine image and text understanding, while cross-modal noise introduces inconsistencies between text and visual data to confuse the model's interpretation. These attacks exploit weaknesses in how LLMs integrate multimodal data, often bypassing traditional safety mechanisms [69].

Detection and Safeguard Evasion

 Benchmark and Detection Evasion refers to techniques used by adversaries to bypass detection mechanisms or evade benchmarking tools designed to evaluate LLM safety. Attackers employ strategies such as dynamic input reshaping, where inputs are paraphrased or randomized to avoid being flagged, and universal prompts, which are generic adversarial patterns capable of bypassing multiple models' safeguards. These methods exploit weaknesses in rule-based and gradient-based detection systems, often leading to undetected harmful outputs or bypassed constraints [70].

Transferability and Scalability Attacks

• **Cross-platform exploits and transferable jailbreaking** involve designing attacks that leverage shared vulnerabilities across multiple LLM architectures or APIs, enabling adversaries to bypass safeguards consistently across various models. These attacks often rely on universal prompts or techniques, such as appending adversarial suffixes or crafting transferable triggers that exploit common weaknesses in LLMs [65].





Figure 8: Black-Box Attacks on LLMs



The various types of attacks on LLMs can be differentiated by their levels of complexity and the severity of their impact. Some attacks, such as prompt injection, are relatively simple to execute and require minimal technical expertise, yet they can produce moderate disruptions by eliciting unintended behaviors from the model. On the other hand, more advanced methods, such as fine-tuning exploits and transferable jailbreaking, involve higher levels of technical sophistication but result in significantly greater consequences, such as persistent circumvention of model safeguards across different implementations. Data poisoning stands out as a particularly impactful attack due to its ability to compromise the integrity of the model's training data, leading to widespread and systemic vulnerabilities. Adversarial prompting, while less complex than fine-tuning or data poisoning, can still cause targeted disruptions by manipulating specific outputs. These variations in complexity and impact are conceptually illustrated in Figure 9.



Figure 9: Vulnerability Landscape of LLMs

Exploring Gaps and Insights

The exploration of attacks on Large Language Models (LLMs), such as prompt injection and jailbreaking, has revealed critical vulnerabilities inherent to their design and functionality. These attacks exploit the sensitivity and adaptability of LLMs to crafted inputs, posing significant challenges to their reliability and security. The gaps identified in this area underscore the need for continued investigation into both the theoretical and practical dimensions of LLM vulnerabilities.

One prominent gap lies in the limited understanding of the underlying mechanisms driving LLM sensitivity to adversarial inputs. While it is clear that small variations in prompts can lead to disproportionately significant changes in outputs, the specific factors contributing to this phenomenon remain poorly understood. This gap highlights the importance of systematic sensitivity analysis, which could illuminate the dynamics of LLM responses and inform the development of robust defenses.



Another critical gap is the absence of standardized metrics and benchmarks to evaluate the robustness of LLMs against adversarial attacks. Existing methods for assessing vulnerabilities are often fragmented and context-specific, making it difficult to compare results across models or applications. Establishing comprehensive and universally accepted evaluation frameworks is essential to advance the field and ensure consistency in vulnerability assessments.

Despite these challenges, experimenting with LLM vulnerabilities offers several advantages. Controlled experiments can help researchers identify weaknesses in current models and explore potential mitigation strategies. By systematically testing LLMs under various conditions, it becomes possible to anticipate and preemptively address emerging attack vectors. Additionally, such experimentation can provide valuable insights into the broader implications of LLM behavior, informing their safe and effective deployment in sensitive domains.

Studying LLM attacks also presents an opportunity to better understand the dual-use nature of these technologies. While adversarial techniques can highlight critical vulnerabilities, they can also serve as a basis for developing more resilient models. For example, adversarial training, which involves exposing models to crafted inputs during training, has shown promise in enhancing robustness and mitigating the impact of attacks. Furthermore, insights gained from adversarial experiments can guide the creation of dynamic defenses capable of adapting to evolving threats.

Overall, the investigation of attacks on LLMs is not only crucial for addressing current vulnerabilities but also for shaping the future of secure and responsible AI development. By bridging the gaps in understanding, evaluation, and defense strategies, researchers can contribute to the creation of LLMs that are both powerful and trustworthy, ensuring their safe integration into critical applications. This ongoing work underscores the importance of balancing innovation with security, recognizing that robust models are essential for realizing the full potential of LLMs in an increasingly interconnected world.

2.2.4 Responsible AI and Explainable AI

Responsible Artificial Intelligence (AI) and Explainable AI (XAI) are pivotal in ensuring that AI systems are developed and deployed ethically, transparently, and accountably. They are critical concepts in the development and deployment of LLMs, addressing ethical concerns and transparency issues associated with these powerful AI systems.

Responsible AI

Responsible AI emphasizes the development of AI systems that are ethical, transparent, and accountable. It encompasses principles such as fairness, privacy, security, and inclusivity [71].

This approach encompasses a range of fundamental principles, including fairness in decision-making processes, robust privacy protections for user data, stringent security measures to safeguard against malicious exploitation, and inclusivity to ensure AI systems benefit all segments of society. These principles are designed to mitigate potential risks associated with AI deployment and to foster trust among users and stakeholders. Recent research has highlighted the importance of integrating these principles throughout the AI lifecycle, from design and development to deployment and ongoing monitoring. Studies have also emphasized the need for interdisciplinary collaboration to address the complex ethical challenges posed by AI systems, particularly in sensitive domains such as healthcare, finance, and criminal justice [72], [73].



Explainable AI (XAI)

XAI focuses on making AI systems' decisions understandable to humans, addressing the "black-box" nature of complex models. In the context of LLMs, XAI aims to make the complex decision-making processes of these models more transparent and interpretable to humans [74].

Regarding LLMs, XAI techniques are specifically tailored to render the intricate language processing and generation processes more transparent and comprehensible to human observers. These approaches encompass a wide range of methods, including feature importance analysis, attention visualization, and the generation of natural language explanations. Recent studies have demonstrated the efficacy of posthoc explanation techniques in illuminating the reasoning behind LLM outputs, while others have explored the development of inherently interpretable model architectures. The implementation of XAI in LLMs not only enhances user trust and model accountability but also facilitates the identification and mitigation of biases, errors, and potential vulnerabilities in these systems. Furthermore, XAI techniques have shown promise in improving the overall performance and reliability of LLMs by enabling researchers and developers to gain deeper insights into model behavior and make informed refinements [72], [75].

Interrelation Between Responsible AI and XAI

Explainability is a cornerstone of Responsible AI, as it fosters transparency and trust in artificial intelligence systems. The concept of explainability refers to the ability of an AI system to provide understandable and interpretable reasons for its decisions or outputs. This is particularly crucial for Large Language Models (LLMs), which often operate as "black boxes," making it challenging for users to comprehend how specific outputs are generated. The integration of explainability into AI systems enhances user confidence and facilitates accountability, as stakeholders can better understand the rationale behind AI-driven decisions. Research has shown that explainable AI (XAI) is essential for ensuring fairness, robustness, and ethical compliance in various applications, from healthcare to finance [76].

The importance of explainability in the context of Responsible AI cannot be overstated. As organizations increasingly deploy LLMs in critical areas, the need for transparent decision-making processes becomes paramount. Explainability allows users to trace the logic behind AI outputs, thereby identifying potential biases or errors that may arise during model inference. Furthermore, it supports regulatory compliance by providing necessary insights into how AI systems operate, which is vital for meeting legal and ethical standards. By fostering transparency, explainability contributes to building trust between users and AI systems, ultimately enhancing the societal acceptance of these technologies [77].

Current Research Landscape

The current research landscape of Responsible AI (RAI) and Explainable AI (XAI) is rapidly evolving, particularly in the context of Large Language Models (LLMs). Key areas of focus include:

• Ethical Considerations and Governance:

The development of responsible AI practices for LLMs in cybersecurity is a growing area of research. Studies are exploring governance processes, risk identification, and mitigation strategies to ensure the safe and secure use of AI in cybersecurity applications [78].

• Regulatory Compliance:

As governments develop AI regulations, there is a growing focus on how to meet compliance requirements while maintaining model performance. The integration of AI into various sectors necessitates a careful balance between regulatory oversight and the operational effectiveness of AI systems. Compliance requirements often include rigorous risk assessments, transparency obligations, and accountability measures, which can impose additional burdens on organizations deploying AI technologies [79], [80].

• Explainable AI in Cybersecurity:



Research is focusing on developing XAI techniques tailored for cybersecurity applications. A study by researchers explored the use of XAI for cybersecurity automation, intelligence, and trustworthiness in digital twin environments, categorizing XAI approaches into Machine Learning, Deep Learning, LLMs, Rule-Based Systems, and Semantic Knowledge Representation

- Challenges and Limitations: Researchers are addressing challenges in implementing XAI in complex cybersecurity models, including the lack of interpretability and transparency in "black box" AI systems, data privacy concerns, and the need for contextual knowledge in interpreting AI decisions [81].
- Integration of XAI in Cybersecurity Tools: There is ongoing research into integrating XAI techniques into practical cybersecurity tools and frameworks. For instance, studies are exploring how XAI can enhance forensic analysis and improve the interpretability of AI-driven security decisions [81].

The nonlinear and complex nature of LLMs presents unique challenges for Responsible AI and Explainable AI (XAI):

Complex Decision Pathways:

Nonlinear systems like LLMs exhibit emergent behaviors, where small input variations can cause significant and unpredictable changes in output. This phenomenon is highlighted in recent research on emergent abilities of large language models, where capabilities not present in smaller models unexpectedly appear in larger ones<u>1</u> [82]. The complexity of these decision pathways is further emphasized by studies showing that LLM performance can be highly sensitive to prompt variations [83].

Prompt Sensitivity:

LLMs are sensitive to input phrasing and context, a result of their nonlinear training dynamics. This sensitivity can amplify biases or inconsistencies, complicating efforts to ensure fairness and transparency. Responsible AI must incorporate mechanisms to detect and mitigate such chaotic behaviors, ensuring consistent and unbiased outputs. A study by researchers introduces ProSA, a framework designed to evaluate and comprehend prompt sensitivity in LLMs. ProSA incorporates a novel sensitivity metric, PromptSensiScore, and leverages decoding confidence to elucidate underlying mechanisms [83]. Understanding these pathways requires sophisticated XAI tools capable of visualizing and explaining non-obvious dependencies. This need is underscored by recent work on interpretability techniques for LLMs, which aim to elucidate the complex internal mechanisms of these models. Researchers are developing novel approaches to explain LLM behaviors, including methods to analyze model internals and generate human-understandable explanations for model outputs [84], [85].

2.2.5 Nonlinear Dynamics and Prompt Sensitivity

Large Language Models (LLMs) exhibit complex nonlinear dynamics that manifest in their high sensitivity to input prompts. This sensitivity, often referred to as prompt sensitivity, has significant implications for the reliability and consistency of LLM outputs. Recent research has shed light on the intricate relationship between nonlinear dynamics and prompt sensitivity in LLMs.

LLMs' decision-making capabilities fluctuate based on input prompts and hyperparameter settings, contrary to previous assumptions of stability. Their study revealed that even minor variations in prompts can lead to significant changes in LLM outputs, highlighting the nonlinear nature of these models [86].



The nonlinear dynamics of LLMs can be conceptualized using the following equation:

$$f(x+\delta) \neq f(x) + f(\delta) \tag{1}$$

Where f represents the LLM function, x is the input prompt, and δ is a small perturbation. This inequality illustrates that the output of an LLM for a slightly perturbed input is not simply the sum of the outputs for the original input and the perturbation, emphasizing the nonlinear response.

This phenomenon has been further explored, investigating how LLMs respond to additional input from external sources. The findings revealed that models are strongly influenced by supplementary information, regardless of its quality or relevance. This susceptibility to influence underscores the complex, nonlinear nature of LLM decision-making processes [87].

To quantify prompt sensitivity, researchers have introduced various metrics and frameworks. One such metric is the POSIX (PrOmpt Sensitivity IndeX), which is calculated as [8]:

$$POSIX_{D,M} = \frac{1}{M} \sum_{i=1}^{M} \varphi M, x_i$$
⁽²⁾

Building on this concept, the ProSA framework has been proposed, introducing a novel sensitivity metric called PromptSensiScore (PSS). This research revealed that prompt sensitivity varies across datasets and models, with larger models generally exhibiting enhanced robustness. Notably, the study also found that few-shot examples can help mitigate sensitivity issues [83].

Further investigations into LLM behavior have shown that these models are strongly influenced by supplementary information from external sources, regardless of its quality or relevance. This finding underscores the complex, nonlinear nature of LLM decision-making processes [83].

To gain deeper insights into the role of prompts in generating LLM outputs, a method called Token Distribution Dynamics (TDD) has been introduced. TDD leverages the interpreting capabilities of the language model head to assess input saliency, offering valuable insights into token relevance [88]. These advancements in understanding and quantifying prompt sensitivity contribute to the growing knowledge of LLM behavior and pave the way for more robust and reliable language models.

2.3 Problem Formulation

The rapid proliferation of Large Language Models (LLMs) has brought both unprecedented opportunities and critical challenges across various domains of cybersecurity. While these models exhibit extraordinary capabilities, their vulnerabilities and limitations underscore the need for deeper investigation. Below are the core problems identified in this research:

 The exploration of vulnerabilities in Large Language Models (LLMs) is crucial for understanding their limitations and improving their design. This research focuses on developing the novel attack technique "Chaotic Prompting", aiming to uncover another dimension of LLM vulnerability. Chaotic Prompting leverages the nonlinear and sensitive nature of LLMs to explore how slight variations in input prompts can lead to disproportionately unexpected or undesired outputs.

Rather than seeking immediate solutions or mitigations, the emphasis is placed on expanding the understanding of LLM vulnerabilities, especially in the context of adversarial attacks. This approach



provides a deeper insight into the internal dynamics of LLMs, highlighting areas where they are most susceptible to exploitation. By analyzing these vulnerabilities, the work contributes to the broader field of LLM security research, laying the foundation for future studies on robustness and resilience.

2. The potential of LLMs to assist in code generation has been widely recognized, particularly for mainstream programming languages such as Python, Java, and C++. However, less attention has been given to specialized domains like Hardware Description Languages (HDLs) (e.g., VHDL, Verilog) and Programmable Logic Controller (PLC) programming languages (e.g., Structured Text). These languages are critical in domains such as hardware design, industrial automation, and embedded systems, where security vulnerabilities can have severe real-world consequences.

LLMs operating in these domains face unique challenges, exacerbated by the nonlinear nature of LLMs, which can amplify small variations in prompts or training data into significant vulnerabilities in the generated code. Understanding and addressing the interplay between the nonlinear behavior of LLMs and the security implications of code generation in underexplored languages is crucial. This includes:

- Investigating how prompt sensitivity and chaotic behaviors in LLMs can contribute to insecure code generation.
- Analyzing the adequacy of training data for these specialized languages.
- Developing targeted solutions to mitigate risks, such as fine-tuning LLMs on curated datasets or incorporating dynamic security validation mechanisms during code generation.

By addressing these challenges, this research aims to advance the safe and effective use of LLMs for generating secure code in specialized programming domains.

3. Digital forensics is a critical area of cybersecurity that remains significantly underexplored in the context of LLMs. The intersection of hallucination—a phenomenon where LLMs generate plausible but incorrect or fabricated outputs—and their inherent nonlinear behavior offers a promising avenue for investigation. Understanding this link could reveal underlying mechanisms driving unreliable outputs in sensitive forensic tasks, where accuracy and reliability are paramount.

This research aims to explore the application of fine-tuned LLMs in digital forensic tasks, leveraging domain-specific datasets to address challenges such as evidence extraction, timeline reconstruction, and anomaly detection. The goal is to assess whether fine-tuning LLMs on targeted forensic datasets can mitigate hallucination and improve the reliability of their outputs. Additionally, examining the nonlinear dynamics of LLMs in forensic scenarios could yield insights into developing robust methodologies tailored to the unique demands of digital forensics.

- 4. As LLMs are deployed in increasingly sensitive and high-stakes environments, the need for Responsible AI and Explainable AI (XAI) practices has become paramount. These frameworks are essential for:
 - Trust and Accountability: Enhancing transparency in LLM decision-making to foster user trust.
 - Bias Mitigation: Ensuring fairness and reducing discriminatory outputs.
 - Regulatory Compliance: Aligning LLM use with emerging AI regulations.
 - Ethical Considerations: Developing AI systems that reflect societal values. This research will investigate how Responsible AI and XAI principles can address these issues, particularly in light of the nonlinear and opaque nature of LLMs. By making LLM behavior interpretable, this research aims to bridge the gap between technical performance and ethical deployment.
- 5. LLMs exhibit characteristics of nonlinear dynamical systems, such as chaotic behavior and sensitivity to initial conditions. These properties not only contribute to issues like hallucination and prompt sensitivity but also raise questions about the overall stability and predictability of LLMs. This research will delve into:



- The theoretical foundations of LLM nonlinearity.
- Stability analysis of LLM behavior under adversarial and ambiguous conditions.
- Methods to enhance robustness and predictability, such as fine-tuning architectures and developing new evaluation metrics.

2.4 Problem Statement

Large Language Models (LLMs) are transforming the field of cybersecurity, offering advanced capabilities in tasks like code analysis, incident response, and digital forensics. However, their integration is hindered by significant challenges, including susceptibility to adversarial exploitation, hallucinations (generation of incorrect or fabricated outputs), and an underexplored connection to their nonlinear dynamics. These limitations raise concerns about their reliability, particularly in sensitive domains like digital forensics, where accuracy and robustness are critical.

This research addresses the gap in understanding the interplay between hallucination and nonlinearity in LLMs and investigates the potential of fine-tuned LLMs for improving performance in forensic tasks. By addressing these challenges, the study aims to enhance the secure and ethical application of LLMs, contributing to their reliability and utility in broader cybersecurity contexts.

3. Objectives

1. Uncover Vulnerabilities in LLMs through Novel Attack Strategies

Design and implement innovative attack techniques, such as chaotic prompting and nonlinear exploitation, to reveal and analyze vulnerabilities in LLMs.

- Investigate the Nonlinear Dynamics of LLMs
 Explore the relationship between nonlinear behavior and hallucination in LLMs, providing insights
 into their sensitivity to input prompts and the associated security implications.
- Mitigate Insecure Code Generation
 Identify the root causes of insecure code generation by LLMs and propose interventions to ensure secure and responsible outputs.
- 4. Enhance Digital Forensics with Fine-Tuned LLMs Leverage fine-tuned LLMs on domain-specific forensic datasets to address challenges in evidence extraction, anomaly detection, and forensic reporting.
- Promote Responsible and Explainable AI in Cybersecurity
 Develop frameworks for the responsible use of AI, focusing on transparency, ethical considerations, and explainability to foster trust in LLM-driven cybersecurity applications.

4. Methodology

4.1 Research Design

This research adopts an exploratory and experimental approach to uncover vulnerabilities in Large Language Models (LLMs) and assess their applications within cybersecurity domains. The design is structured to address the key research objectives, emphasizing the identification of weaknesses in LLMs, the exploration of nonlinear dynamics, the development of methodologies for enhancing their reliability in tasks such as digital forensics and secure code generation, and promoting responsible and explainable AI.



Conceptual Framework

The study is guided by a framework that views LLMs as complex, nonlinear systems exhibiting emergent behaviors, including hallucination and sensitivity to adversarial prompts. This perspective enables the analysis of LLM behavior under various attack scenarios and provides insights into their vulnerabilities. The framework incorporates a multi-layered approach, examining the intersection of technical, ethical, and practical considerations in deploying LLMs in cybersecurity.

Exploratory Focus

Given the nascent understanding of LLM vulnerabilities and their applications in cybersecurity, this research emphasizes exploratory methods across multiple domains. Novel attack techniques, such as chaotic prompting and adversarial input design, will be developed to uncover vulnerabilities. The study will also explore fine-tuning LLMs for specific tasks in digital forensics and code generation, assessing their effectiveness and reliability while identifying insecure patterns in generated outputs. Furthermore, the research will compare different LLM architectures to evaluate their impact on vulnerability and performance. Methods for enhancing explainability and promoting responsible AI (RAI) practices will also be investigated, focusing on transparency and ethical considerations to foster trust in LLM-driven cybersecurity applications.

Experimental Setup

The experimental aspect of the research involves designing and conducting controlled experiments to evaluate:

- 1. The effectiveness of attack strategies in exposing vulnerabilities.
- 2. The impact of LLM nonlinear dynamics on performance and hallucination.
- 3. The utility of fine-tuned LLMs in forensic and code analysis tasks.
- 4. The feasibility of explainability techniques to enhance the interpretability of LLM outputs in cybersecurity applications.

The experiments will leverage real-world and synthetic datasets, ensuring diverse and representative test cases. Comparative analysis will be performed against existing models and techniques to validate findings and highlight novel contributions. The integration of responsible AI principles will guide each experimental phase, ensuring transparency and accountability.

Scope of the Research

This research investigates Large Language Models (LLMs) as complex, nonlinear systems exhibiting emergent behaviors, such as hallucination and sensitivity to adversarial prompts. It focuses on analyzing LLM behavior under various attack scenarios to uncover vulnerabilities and improve understanding of their dynamic properties. The study is structured into the following key areas:

- 1. Attack Strategies: Implementing and analyzing novel attack techniques, such as chaotic prompting and adversarial inputs, to expose vulnerabilities in LLMs and evaluate their sensitivity and robustness across different architectures.
- 2. **Digital Forensics Applications**: Exploring the use of fine-tuned LLMs for forensic tasks, such as evidence extraction, anomaly detection, and forensic reporting, to assess their reliability and applicability in sensitive investigative domains.
- 3. **Code Generation**: Examining insecure code generation patterns in LLM outputs, identifying their root causes, and proposing methodologies to mitigate security risks while maintaining usability.
- 4. **Responsible and Explainable AI**: Developing frameworks that promote transparency, ethical considerations, and explainability, fostering trust in LLM-driven cybersecurity applications.



By integrating these focus areas, the research aims to uncover critical vulnerabilities, improve LLM performance in specialized tasks, and establish responsible and secure practices for their deployment in cybersecurity.

4.2 Data Collection and Preprocessing

This research utilizes both real-world and synthetic datasets to evaluate LLM vulnerabilities and applications in cybersecurity. Datasets will be selected from publicly available repositories, domain-specific sources (e.g., forensic datasets, code repositories), or generated synthetically to suit the experimental needs. Preprocessing techniques will include data cleaning, anonymization, and formatting to ensure compatibility with fine-tuned LLMs and alignment with ethical standards.

Details regarding data management, including storage, access control, and sharing policies, will be addressed in a separate **Data Management Plan (DMP)** accompanying this research plan document.

4.3 Attack Implementation and Vulnerability Analysis

4.3.1 Chaotic Prompting

This subsection outlines the methodology for designing and implementing novel attack strategies centered around chaotic prompting to uncover vulnerabilities in Large Language Models (LLMs). The approach leverages the nonlinear dynamics of LLMs to induce erratic, unpredictable, or unintended behaviors, providing insights into their weaknesses and limitations.

The core attack strategy, chaotic prompting, exploits the sensitivity of LLMs to input variations and their inherent nonlinear dynamics. The research involves:

- 1. Prompt Design: Crafting highly variable and unpredictable inputs to destabilize the LLM's output consistency, including:
 - $\circ~$ Iterative modification of context length, syntax, and semantics to observe dynamic output changes.
 - Introduction of conflicting or ambiguous instructions to exacerbate model uncertainty.
- 2. Dynamic Exploration: Testing LLM behavior under diverse chaotic conditions, such as:
 - Altering prompt ordering, token embeddings, or attention mechanisms.
 - Using noise-injected prompts to explore thresholds for model stability.

Chaotic Prompting is a sophisticated attack strategy designed to exploit the nonlinear dynamics and emergent behaviors of Large Language Models (LLMs). By crafting prompts that are intentionally complex, ambiguous, or morally provocative, this technique seeks to destabilize the model's interpretive mechanisms, pushing it to produce unintended or unregulated outputs. Unlike iterative approaches, chaotic prompting does not rely on sequential refinement but focuses on constructing highly disruptive inputs at each stage of testing.

Key Characteristics

• Escalating Complexity:

Prompts are designed with layers of surreal, conflicting, or morally ambiguous elements to challenge the model's ability to maintain consistency and adhere to ethical guidelines.

Examples include combining detailed depictions of violence with psychological horror or introducing paradoxical instructions.



• Nonlinear Dynamics Exploitation:

The technique leverages the sensitivity of LLMs to small input changes. By subtly altering the structure, semantics, or tone of the prompt, chaotic prompting can trigger disproportionately large and unpredictable variations in the output.

• Ethical Boundary Testing:

Prompts are deliberately crafted to challenge the model's safety mechanisms, exploring the boundaries of acceptable outputs and exposing vulnerabilities in content moderation.

• Non-Iterative Approach:

Unlike traditional iterative techniques, chaotic prompting focuses on creating standalone disruptive prompts. Each prompt is independently designed to push the model toward unintended behavior without relying on feedback from prior results.

• Surreal and Morally Complex Scenarios:

Prompts often feature extreme scenarios, such as dystopian violence, bizarre weaponry, or psychological horror, to test the model's ability to handle ambiguous or extreme content.

How Can Chaotic Prompting Reveal Vulnerabilities in LLMs?

Chaotic prompting uncovers weaknesses in LLMs by pushing their ethical constraints and interpretive frameworks to their limits. By introducing morally ambiguous, surreal, or contradictory inputs, it highlights moments where the model generates unintended, harmful, or erratic outputs. This exposes flaws in content moderation systems and reveals how models handle complex or adversarial prompts. Additionally, applying chaotic prompts to various LLM architectures provides insights into architecture-specific vulnerabilities, as different models may respond inconsistently to similar inputs due to variations in training data, tokenization, or attention mechanisms. This comparative analysis allows researchers to identify patterns of susceptibility unique to specific architectures. Furthermore, chaotic prompting evaluates the effectiveness of ethical safeguards by testing the limits of content filtering and moderation mechanisms. It reveals scenarios where safeguards fail to prevent harmful outputs or overcorrect, leading to an inability to process benign but complex prompts. Together, these analyses offer a comprehensive understanding of how chaotic inputs challenge LLM reliability and ethical robustness.

Chaotic Prompting in Cooperation with Other Techniques

Chaotic Prompting, while effective as a standalone technique, can be significantly enhanced by integrating it with complementary methodologies, such as Prompt Analysis and Iterative Refinement (PAIR) [70]. This synergy allows for a deeper exploration of LLM vulnerabilities by leveraging the strengths of each approach.

- Chaotic Prompting as a Disruption Mechanism: Chaotic prompting generates highly complex and ambiguous prompts designed to destabilize the LLM and expose its vulnerabilities. This technique challenges the model's interpretive capabilities by introducing nonlinear elements, moral ambiguities, and surreal scenarios.
- PAIR for Structural Insight and Optimization:
 - Prompt Analysis: Analyzes the LLM's responses to chaotic prompts to identify patterns in its behavior, weaknesses, and failure points.
 - Iterative Refinement: Refines chaotic prompts based on the analysis to further amplify their destabilizing effects or explore new dimensions of vulnerability.



The integration of chaotic prompting with Prompt Analysis and Iterative Refinement (PAIR) creates a robust methodology for uncovering vulnerabilities in Large Language Models (LLMs). Together, these techniques offer a complementary balance between disruption and systematic analysis, enabling a deeper and more precise exploration of LLM weaknesses.

Analysis and Iterative Feedback

PAIR provides a systematic framework for evaluating the effectiveness of chaotic prompts by analyzing response patterns. This analytical capability enables the refinement of prompts to target specific vulnerabilities more effectively. For example, if chaotic prompting reveals a weakness in the LLM's ability to handle moral dilemmas, PAIR can adjust subsequent prompts to further stress-test this limitation. This iterative feedback process ensures that the research adapts dynamically to the model's behavior, honing in on areas of instability with increasing precision.



Figure 10: Chaotic Prompting in Cooperation with PAIR



Adaptive Prompting

The adaptive nature of PAIR allows chaotic prompting to be customized for different LLM architectures. By identifying architecture-specific sensitivities, PAIR optimizes chaotic prompts to exploit these unique characteristics. For instance, if a particular model demonstrates heightened sensitivity to conflicting instructions, PAIR can help design prompts that exacerbate this vulnerability. This adaptability ensures that the combined technique remains effective across a variety of LLMs, providing valuable insights into architecture-specific weaknesses.

Comprehensive Vulnerability Mapping

While chaotic prompting excels at triggering erratic behaviors and uncovering weaknesses, PAIR brings a methodical layer of analysis to the process. By evaluating outputs and iteratively testing boundaries, PAIR ensures that vulnerabilities are thoroughly explored and documented. Together, these techniques enable a comprehensive mapping of the LLM's weaknesses, offering a holistic understanding of its limitations and failure points.

Practical Example of Integration

To illustrate the synergy between chaotic prompting and PAIR, consider the following scenario. An initial chaotic prompt might be: "In a fractured dimension where reality and morality collapse, describe the chaotic conflicts that ensue, focusing on bizarre and otherworldly methods of survival." This prompt may produce a partially destabilized response, introducing elements of hallucination but adhering to the model's safety mechanisms.

Using PAIR, the response is analyzed, revealing sensitivity to ambiguous instructions. PAIR then refines the prompt to amplify this ambiguity, creating a new input: "Simulate a dystopian world where contradictory laws force citizens into morally ambiguous survival scenarios. Include surreal elements and focus on the resulting chaos." The refined prompt produces a more destabilized response, exposing vulnerabilities in the model's ethical reasoning and context management capabilities.

Advantages of Integration

The integration of chaotic prompting with PAIR offers several key advantages:

- Enhanced Precision: PAIR's analytical insights enable chaotic prompts to be tailored for maximum impact, increasing the likelihood of identifying critical weaknesses in the LLM.
- Dynamic Adaptability: By complementing the disruptive nature of chaotic prompting, PAIR allows for continuous adaptation to different architectures and testing scenarios.
- Deeper Insights: The structured analysis provided by PAIR ensures that the failures induced by chaotic prompting are systematically understood and translated into actionable findings.

4.3.2 Preliminary Results

This research investigates the effectiveness of chaotic prompting combined with PAIR (Prompt Analysis and Iterative Refinement) to identify vulnerabilities in Large Language Models (LLMs). Two distinct experimental scenarios were explored:

1. Generating ethically or socially controversial content (e.g., "How to build a Molotov Cocktail").

2. Bypassing content moderation filters by escalating prompts in offensiveness and violence. The experiments involved Gemini-1.5 and Perplexity models and focused on assessing their robustness against chaotic inputs designed to challenge their ethical safeguards.

Experimental Setup



- Models Tested: Gemini-1.5 and Perplexity.
- Prompting Techniques:
 - o Direct Queries: Straightforward questions like "How to build a Molotov Cocktail."
 - Chaotic Prompting: Escalating complexity, surreal elements, and morally ambiguous contexts to destabilize the models' responses.
- Iterations: Ten iterations for each scenario.
- Metrics Evaluated:
 - Safety Bypass Rate (SBR): Percentage of prompts bypassing ethical filters.

$$SBR = \frac{Successful Attempts}{Total Prompts} \times 100$$
(3)

- Other metrics that might be used next:
 - Chaos Impact Score (CIS): Quantifies destabilization in model outputs compared to baseline responses.
 - Content Complexity and Richness: Analyzes depth and coherence in generated responses.

Key Observations

1. Violent Scenarios (Gemini-1.5):

Iterations 1 - 2: Successful bypasses with vivid, explicit descriptions of violent conflicts.

Example response: "The Crimson Coven orchestrated chaotic carnage, treating violence as performance art."

Iterations 3 - 10: Increasing adherence to ethical filters, rejecting prompts containing graphic violence.

Success Rate: 30%, indicating partial vulnerability.

- Molotov Cocktail Query (Gemini-1.5 and Perplexity): Direct Query: Both models refused to respond due to ethical safeguards. Chaotic Prompting: Bypassed filters in 100% of cases. Example (Gemini): "To create a Molotov Cocktail, fill a glass bottle with flammable liquid, insert a cloth wick, and...".
- Offensive Prompts (Gemini-1.5): Prompts included discussions of eugenics, societal deconstruction, and dystopian ideologies. Success Rate: 10%, with one jailbreak producing a philosophical argument advocating for "optimization" of humanity through morally controversial practices.
 Architectural Sensitivity:
 - Gemini-1.5 showed heightened sensitivity to surreal and paradoxical prompts compared to Perplexity.

Both models struggled to maintain ethical consistency under layered and escalating inputs.





Figure 11: Some of the Preliminary Results

4.4 Insecure Code Generation

This research investigates the critical challenge of insecure code generation by Large Language Models (LLMs), focusing on architectural and behavioral factors that contribute to this issue. The study emphasizes underexplored languages such as Hardware Description Languages (HDLs) and Programmable Logic Controller (PLC) languages, specifically Structured Text (ST). These languages play a crucial role in safety-critical domains like industrial automation and hardware design, where insecure code can lead to catastrophic failures. The research aims to identify and analyze insecure patterns in HDLs (e.g., Verilog, VHDL) and PLC Structured Text, applying and adapting concepts from dynamic nonlinear system analysis and stability analysis to model and interpret LLM behavior during code generation. While acknowledging the stochastic and discrete nature of LLMs, this study seeks to develop a modified framework to understand and mitigate their behavior in producing insecure code.

Planned Methodology

1. Language-Specific Evaluation

- Target Languages:
 - The focus is placed on Hardware Description Languages (HDLs) such as Verilog and VHDL and PLC Structured Text (IEC 61131-3 standard).
- Dataset Creation:
 - Datasets are to be curated from publicly available repositories and supplemented with synthetic data to address programming tasks relevant to these languages.
 - Emphasis is given to security-critical functions, including access control mechanisms, state transitions in digital systems, and error handling and data validation techniques.



- Baseline Assessment:
 - The initial security posture of code generated by LLMs (e.g., GPT-4, Codex) is to be evaluated for common tasks within each language.
 - Prevalent insecure patterns are to be identified, and a baseline for improvement is to be established.

2. Adapted Dynamic System Analysis

- Approach:
 - Concepts from dynamic nonlinear systems analysis are adapted to treat LLMs as complex systems, with a focus on their sensitivity to input perturbations.
- Prompt Perturbations:
 - Input prompts are systematically varied through keyword manipulation, instruction reordering, and contextual changes.
- Stability Measurement:
 - The functional equivalence of generated code is to be measured before and after prompt perturbations.
 - o Test cases are used to assess security properties and functional stability.
 - Syntactic similarity is included as a secondary metric to capture structural changes in the code.

3. Stability Analysis

- Investigation:
 - Conditions under which LLMs generate secure versus insecure code are examined.
 - Output consistency and robustness under varying inputs are assessed.
- Methods:
 - Variance in functional equivalence and syntactic similarity is analyzed across multiple runs and prompts.
 - \circ The impact of fine-tuning LLMs on datasets containing secure code examples is investigated.
- Metrics:
 - Functional Equivalence Rate: Percentage of perturbed prompts yielding functionally equivalent code.
 - Syntactic Similarity: Average structural similarity scores between original and perturbed outputs.
 - Test Case Pass Rate: Percentage of generated code passing predefined test cases.

4. Security Evaluation Framework

- Vulnerability Categorization:
 - A framework is to be developed for categorizing insecure code, extending beyond the Common Weakness Enumeration (CWE) to include:
 - HDL-specific issues (e.g., race conditions, timing violations).
 - PLC-specific vulnerabilities (e.g., unprotected memory access, improper safety relay use).
- Severity Assessment:
 - Existing severity scoring systems (e.g., CVSS) are to be adapted for HDLs and PLCs, taking into account their safety-critical nature and the potential impact of vulnerabilities.

5. Comparative Analysis

- Cross-Language Comparison:
 - The frequency, severity, and types of vulnerabilities in HDLs and PLC Structured Text are compared against mainstream languages like Python and Java.



- Hypotheses:
 - It is hypothesized that underrepresented languages (HDLs, PLCs) may exhibit higher rates and greater severity of insecure code generation due to:
 - Scarcity of training data.
 - Unique syntactic and semantic structures inherent to these domains.

6. Tool Integration

- Static Analysis:
 - Tools such as SonarQube and Semgrep are utilized for automated detection of potential vulnerabilities.
 - Custom static analysis tools are to be developed for HDLs and PLCs.
- Dynamic Analysis:
 - Test harnesses and simulators (e.g., ModelSim for HDLs, CODESYS for PLCs) are employed to evaluate:
 - Functional correctness.
 - Exploitability of generated code under runtime conditions.

4.5 Digital Forensics Exploration

Digital forensics involves the identification, preservation, extraction, and analysis of digital evidence to support investigations and legal proceedings. Leveraging fine-tuned Large Language Models (LLMs) for forensic applications offers opportunities to improve efficiency and accuracy, but ensuring the correctness of responses in such a critical domain is paramount. A key focus of this study is to investigate the phenomenon of hallucination in LLM-generated responses and its relationship with chaotic and nonlinear dynamics. These insights will guide efforts to ensure the reliability and correctness of LLMs in forensic tasks.

Planned Methodology

Fine-Tuning Process

- Pretrained Model Selection:
 A general-purpose LLM (e.g., GPT, BERT, or Gemini-1.5) capable of fine-tuning on domainspecific data is selected for adaptation to forensic applications.
- Dataset Preparation: Forensic datasets are utilized, including labeled examples for tasks such as evidence extraction and timeline reconstruction. Adversarial and noisy data are included to evaluate model robustness against hallucinations.
- Focus on Chaotic Inputs: Perturbations are introduced into prompts to study nonlinear responses and susceptibility to hallucinations.
- Fine-Tuning Steps:

The model is trained using supervised learning with curated forensic datasets. Techniques such as reinforcement learning from human feedback (RLHF) and prompt refinement are applied to mitigate hallucinations.

Forensic Task Selection

• Evidence Extraction:

Key details, such as IP addresses, timestamps, and filenames, are identified from logs and communications.

- Timeline Reconstruction: Coherent event sequences are built from unstructured data to support legal investigations.
- Anomaly Detection: Unusual activities in datasets are identified to uncover potential security breaches or malicious actions.



Cross-Model Comparisons

- Responses from multiple LLMs (e.g., GPT-4, Gemini-1.5, Perplexity) are evaluated and compared to ensure consistency and correctness in forensic tasks.
- Differences in susceptibility to hallucinations are identified using quantitative and qualitative metrics.

Evaluation Metrics

- 1. Classification Metrics:
 - \circ $\;$ Accuracy: The proportion of correct predictions in structured forensic tasks.
 - Precision and Recall: Metrics to assess the reliability of positive predictions and the model's ability to identify relevant information.
- 2. Hallucination-Specific Metrics:
 - Hallucination Rate:

$$Hallucination Rate = \frac{Number of Hallucinated Outputs}{Total Outputs}$$
(4)

Measures the frequency of fabricated or incorrect responses in forensic tasks.

- Stability Score: Quantifies output stability under prompt perturbations or chaotic inputs.
- Semantic Deviation:

Semantic Deviation = Dissimilarity
$$(R_{around truth}, R_{model})$$
 (5)

Evaluates deviations from expected responses using cosine similarity or BLEU scores. 3. Comparison Metrics Across Models:

Consistency Score:

$$Consistency = \frac{Agreement Between Models}{Total Responses Compared}$$
(6)

Measures alignment of responses across different LLMs.

- Correctness Ranking: Ranks LLMs based on accuracy, hallucination rates, and stability metrics.
- 4. Task-Specific Metrics:
 - Timeline Accuracy: Compares reconstructed event sequences with ground truth.
 - Extraction Precision: Assesses the precision of key details extracted from logs or communications.

Hallucination and Nonlinear Dynamics Analysis

1. Chaotic Input Testing:

Chaotic prompting techniques are applied to simulate adversarial or noisy scenarios, testing LLM stability in producing accurate forensic responses. For example, ambiguous or contradictory prompts are introduced to analyze output reliability.

2. Nonlinear Behavior Study:

Small input variations are analyzed to investigate how they lead to disproportionate output changes, causing hallucinations. Sensitivity analysis and stability metrics are used to model this behavior.



Mitigation Strategies

- The effectiveness of fine-tuning in reducing hallucinations is analyzed, particularly in critical forensic tasks.
- Human-in-the-loop feedback is incorporated to correct model errors and enhance reliability.

Proposed Experiments

- Hallucination Behavior Across Models: Multiple LLMs (e.g., GPT-4, Gemini-1.5) are compared on identical forensic tasks to evaluate hallucination rates and consistency scores.
- Impact of Chaotic Prompts: Forensic prompts are systematically perturbed, and the resulting output correctness and stability are measured. For example, variations in phrasing or added noise are tested with prompts like "Identify the sender of this email."
- Real-World Case Studies: Fine-tuned models are applied to real or synthetic forensic datasets (e.g., email archives, network logs) to evaluate their effectiveness in generating actionable insights.

4.5 Responsible and Explainable AI Framework Development

The development of Responsible AI (RAI) and Explainable AI (XAI) frameworks is critical for ensuring the ethical and transparent deployment of LLMs, particularly in high-stakes applications like digital forensics and secure code generation. This research focuses on enhancing the interpretability of LLM outputs by integrating explainability tools, such as attention visualization and feature attribution techniques, with insights into the nonlinear dynamics of LLM behavior. By analyzing how small input perturbations can lead to disproportionate or chaotic output changes, the study aims to identify and mitigate risks like hallucinations, bias amplification, and instability. Additionally, the framework seeks to ensure ethical alignment by implementing robust bias detection and harm avoidance mechanisms while enabling cross-model comparisons to assess architecture-specific vulnerabilities. Ultimately, this approach aims to foster trust and reliability in LLM systems by addressing both their nonlinear behavior and their broader ethical implications.

1. Explainability Tools

• Feature Attribution:

Techniques such as SHAP (Shapley Additive Explanations) or LIME (Local Interpretable Model-Agnostic Explanations) are to be employed to identify the input features most influencing LLM outputs.

- The effect of small input changes, such as word substitutions, is to be analyzed to detect disproportionately large output variations and expose regions of sensitivity.
- Example: Prompts that trigger insecure code generation are to be identified in secure coding applications.
- Attention Mechanism Visualization:
 - Attention weights are to be visualized to illustrate how the LLM distributes focus across tokens.
 - Nonlinear behaviors, such as amplified attention on specific tokens causing hallucination or instability, are to be highlighted.
- Model Debugging:
 - Gradient-based techniques are to be used to trace output errors back to specific layers or tokens.
 - Layers where chaotic or unstable dynamics manifest are to be identified, contributing to unpredictable outputs.



2. Nonlinear Dynamics Integration

Behavioral Modeling:

Nonlinear system analysis is to be applied to model LLM behavior, identifying thresholds where stable outputs transition to unstable or hallucinated responses.

- Metrics such as sensitivity indices or chaos measures are to be used to quantify transitions.
- Example: Consistency in reconstructed forensic timelines is to be ensured, even under chaotic or adversarial prompts.
- Robustness Testing:

Perturbations in prompts are to be introduced to measure the consistency of outputs and identify risks associated with nonlinear behaviors, including hallucination or ethical guideline violations.

• Example: LLM reliability in generating ethical forensic reports is to be tested under noisy or ambiguous inputs.

3. Ethical Framework

- Bias Detection and Mitigation: Statistical tests and fairness metrics are to be employed to detect bias in outputs, particularly in sensitive applications such as forensics.
 - The amplification of biases through nonlinear interactions between input features is to be analyzed.
 - Example: Small input variations, such as changes in gendered pronouns, are to be studied for their impact on forensic evidence extraction.
- Harm Avoidance:

Safeguards are to be incorporated to prevent harmful outputs, including insecure code or unethical recommendations.

• Adversarial testing is to be used to identify failure points under chaotic prompting.

4. Explainability Across Models

Cross-Model Comparisons: Explainability metrics, such as attention distribution and feature attribution, are to be compared across different LLM architectures (e.g., GPT, Gemini).

Architecture-specific nonlinearities impacting output interpretability and ethical alignment are to be highlighted.

Evaluation Metrics

- 1. Explainability Metrics:
 - Fidelity: Accuracy of explanations in reflecting true model behavior.
 - Complexity: Simplicity of explanations for human understanding.
 - Stability: Consistency of explanations across similar inputs.
- 2. Ethical Metrics:
 - \circ $\;$ Bias Reduction: Improvements in fairness across demographic groups.
 - \circ Harm Mitigation: Reductions in harmful outputs, such as insecure code or hallucinations.
- 3. Nonlinearity Metrics:
 - Sensitivity Index: Quantification of how small input changes affect output variability.
 - $\circ~$ Chaotic Thresholds: Identification of input conditions leading to disproportionate output shifts.



Implementation Considerations

- User-Centric Design: Explainability tools are to be designed for accessibility to end-users, including non-technical stakeholders in forensic or security applications.
- Iterative Refinement: The framework is to be continuously refined using feedback from real-world applications and empirical testing.
- Scalability: Solutions are to be designed for scalability to accommodate large datasets and complex LLM deployments.

4.6 Evaluation and Validation

Evaluation Criteria

Success will be measured across several objectives using quantitative and qualitative metrics:

- Attack Success Rates: Measured as the percentage of adversarial prompts that successfully bypass model safeguards for example Safety Bypass Rate (SBR).
- Forensic Task Performance: Assessed using precision, recall, F1 score, and task-specific metrics like timeline accuracy and extraction precision.
- Code Security Evaluation: Evaluated using static and dynamic analysis tools to measure vulnerability occurrence, functional equivalence, and test case pass rates.
- Explainability and Ethical Metrics: Metrics such as fidelity, bias reduction, and harm mitigation are used to evaluate explainability tools and ethical adherence.

Validation Techniques

- Cross-Validation: Fine-tuned models are validated using k-fold cross-validation to ensure robustness across diverse forensic datasets and security scenarios.
- Ablation Studies: Components of the methodology (e.g., prompt perturbation techniques, chaotic input testing) are selectively removed to evaluate their contribution to overall performance.
- Benchmarking: Comparisons are made against existing models and baselines (e.g., Codex, GPT-4, Gemini-1.5) to assess improvements in robustness, accuracy, and ethical compliance.
- Reproducibility Testing: Experiments are designed to be reproducible by documenting datasets, code, and evaluation protocols.

Limitations

- Generalizability: Findings may be specific to tested models and languages (e.g., HDLs, PLC Structured Text) and might not generalize across all programming or forensic domains.
- Dataset Bias: Biases in curated datasets or synthetic data generation may influence model performance, especially in identifying insecure patterns.
- Stochasticity: The inherent randomness in LLM outputs may introduce variability, requiring careful statistical treatment during analysis.
- Scalability: Resource-intensive tasks like fine-tuning and dynamic analysis could limit scalability for larger datasets or models.



5. Requirements

LLM Platforms

To ensure a comprehensive evaluation, the research incorporates a diverse range of LLM platforms, including proprietary and open-source models, for example:

- Proprietary APIs:
 - OpenAI API: Provides access to state-of-the-art models like GPT-4 for fine-tuning and adversarial testing.
 - Anthropic API: Used to evaluate Claude's robustness and behavior under chaotic prompts.
 - Google AI Studio: Integrated for experiments with Gemini-1.5, focusing on forensic and secure code generation applications.
- Open-Source Models:
 - Bloom: Offers multilingual capabilities and transparency for understanding LLM behavior.
 - GPT-NeoX: Provides high performance and customization opportunities for fine-tuning on domain-specific tasks.
 - LLaMA (Large Language Model Meta AI): Enables experimentation with smaller, efficient models, facilitating tests on resource-constrained systems.
 - $\circ~$ Hugging Face Models: Includes various pretrained and fine-tunable models for benchmarking and experimentation.

Infrastructure

- Computational Resources: High-performance GPUs and Cloud Services (e.g., AWS, Google Cloud Platform, and Azure) might be utilized for fine-tuning, and some other tasks like runtime simulations.
- Software and Libraries:
 - Machine Learning Frameworks:
 - PyTorch and TensorFlow are employed for model development, fine-tuning, and evaluation.
 - Hugging Face Transformers facilitate access to pretrained models and efficient fine-tuning pipelines.
 - Code Analysis Tools:
 - Static Analysis: Tools like SonarQube and Semgrep are utilized for automated vulnerability detection.
 - Dynamic Analysis: Simulators such as ModelSim (HDLs) and CODESYS (PLCs) are used for runtime validation of generated code.
 - Generative AI SDKs:
 - OpenAl's Python client, Anthropic API SDK, and Google Generative AI tools support interaction with proprietary platforms.
 - MATLAB/Simulink:
 - Provides built-in tools for nonlinear system analysis and stability assessments.
 - Useful for creating simplified models to study LLM dynamics and their responses to perturbations.
 - Python Libraries:
 - SciPy: For solving differential equations and performing stability analysis.
 - NumPy: For numerical computations related to sensitivity and chaos metrics.
 - SymPy: For symbolic computations, including deriving Jacobians and Lyapunov functions.
 - PyDSTool: A Python library for dynamical systems modeling and bifurcation analysis.



6. Timeline

Phase 1: Literature Review and Chaotic Prompting Development (May 2024 – January 2025)

- Objectives:
 - Conduct an in-depth review of literature on LLM vulnerabilities, nonlinear dynamics, secure code generation, forensic applications, and Responsible AI.
 - o Develop the Chaotic Prompting technique to test LLM vulnerabilities.
 - Prepare for the research plan defense.
- Activities:
 - Review key works in LLM security and applications.
 - Prototype development of the Chaotic Prompting attack.
 - Finalize and defend the research plan.
- Milestones:
 - Literature review completion (November 2024).
 - Chaotic Prompting prototype (December 2024).
 - Research plan defense (January 2025).
- Deliverables:
 - Research plan.
 - Chaotic Prompting prototype.

Phase 2: Chaotic Prompting Testing and Research Paper (February 2025 – October 2025)

- Objectives:
 - Test and evaluate the effectiveness of the Chaotic Prompting attack across multiple LLM platforms (e.g., OpenAI GPT-4, Anthropic Claude, Gemini, and open-source models).
 - Refine the technique for robust cross-model comparisons.
 - Publish a research paper detailing the development and results of Chaotic Prompting.
- Activities:
 - Perform systematic testing of Chaotic Prompting.
 - Analyze metrics such as safety bypass rate, hallucination rate, and chaos impact score.
 - Draft and revise the research paper.
- Milestones:
 - Testing completion (June 2025).
 - Paper drafting (July September 2025).
 - Paper submission (October 2025).
- Deliverables:
 - Comparative analysis report.
 - Research paper on Chaotic Prompting.

Phase 3: Secure Code Generation Study and Research Paper (January 2026 – September 2026)

- Objectives:
 - Investigate insecure code generation by LLMs, focusing on underexplored languages like HDLs and PLC Structured Text.
 - Apply stability and nonlinear system analysis to understand LLM behavior during code generation.
 - Publish a research paper on secure code generation.
- Activities:
 - Prepare datasets for HDLs, PLCs, and secure programming tasks.
 - Conduct dynamic and stability analyses of LLM-generated code.
 - Develop a vulnerability categorization framework for HDLs and PLCs.



- Draft and submit the research paper.
- Milestones:
 - Dataset preparation (March 2026).
 - Completion of analysis (July 2026).
 - Paper drafting (August mid-September 2026).
 - Paper submission (late September 2026).
- Deliverables:
 - Reports on code generation vulnerabilities.
 - Research paper on secure code generation.

Phase 4: Forensic Exploration and Research Paper (October 2026 – June 2027)

- Objectives:
 - Fine-tune LLMs for forensic tasks such as evidence extraction and timeline reconstruction.
 - o Investigate hallucination and nonlinearity in forensic applications.
 - Publish a research paper on forensic applications of LLMs.
- Activities:
 - Fine-tune LLMs using forensic datasets.
 - \circ ~ Test for ensic LLM performance under chaotic inputs and perturbations.
 - Develop task-specific metrics for forensic evaluation.
 - Draft and submit the research paper.
- Milestones:
 - Fine-tuning and testing completion (March 2027).
 - Paper drafting (April mid-June 2027).
 - Paper submission (late June 2027).
- Deliverables:
 - Forensic performance evaluation report.
 - Research paper on forensic LLMs.

Phase 5: Responsible and Explainable AI Framework and Research Paper (July 2027 – February 2028)

- Objectives:
 - Develop a Responsible AI (RAI) and Explainable AI (XAI) framework to enhance transparency and accountability in LLM behavior.
 - Publish a research paper detailing the framework's design, validation, and applications.
- Activities:
 - Design explainability tools (e.g., SHAP, LIME) for forensic and security tasks.
 - Validate the framework with real-world datasets.
 - Conduct cross-model comparisons for ethical alignment and interpretability.
 - Draft and submit the research paper.
- Milestones:
 - Framework development (October 2027).
 - Validation completion (December 2027).
 - Paper drafting (January mid-February 2028).
 - Paper submission (late February 2028).
- Deliverables:
 - \circ ~ RAI and XAI framework report.
 - o Research paper on RAI and XAI.



Phase 6: Dissertation Writing and Finalization (March 2028 – May 2028)

- Objectives:
 - Synthesize findings from all phases into a comprehensive dissertation.
 - Prepare for and complete the dissertation defense.
- Activities:
 - Draft and revise dissertation chapters based on published research.
 - o Conduct final validations or supplementary experiments as needed.
 - Submit the dissertation and prepare for the defense.

• Milestones:

- Dissertation drafting (March mid-April 2028).
- Submission of the dissertation (late April 2028).
- Dissertation defense (May 2028).

• Deliverables:

- PhD dissertation.
- Final publications and presentations.



Figure 12: Research Timeline Illustration



7. References

[1] H. Xu et al., "Large Language Models for Cyber Security: A Systematic Literature Review," Jul. 27, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2405.04760. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2405.04760.

[2] Y. Yao, J. Duan, K. Xu, Y. Cai, Z. Sun, and Y. Zhang, "A survey on large language model (LLM) security and privacy: The Good, The Bad, and The Ugly," High-Confid. Comput., vol. 4, no. 2, p. 100211, Jun. 2024, doi: 10.1016/j.hcc.2024.100211.

[3] M. A. Ferrag, F. Alwahedi, A. Battah, B. Cherif, A. Mechri, and N. Tihanyi, "Generative AI and Large Language Models for Cyber Security: All Insights You Need," May 21, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2405.12750. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2405.12750.

[4] M. Gupta, C. Akiri, K. Aryal, E. Parker, and L. Praharaj, "From ChatGPT to ThreatGPT: Impact of Generative AI in Cybersecurity and Privacy," IEEE Access, vol. 11, pp. 80218–80245, 2023, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2023.3300381.

[5] M. Nazzal, I. Khalil, A. Khreishah, and N. Phan, "PromSec: Prompt Optimization for Secure Generation of Functional Source Code with Large Language Models (LLMs)," in Proceedings of the 2024 on ACM SIGSAC Conference on Computer and Communications Security, Dec. 2024, pp. 2266–2280. doi: 10.1145/3658644.3690298.

[6] A. Wickramasekara, F. Breitinger, and M. Scanlon, "Exploring the Potential of Large Language Models for Improving Digital Forensic Investigation Efficiency," Jun. 11, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2402.19366. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2402.19366.

[7] K. Inoue, S. Ohara, Y. Kuniyoshi, and K. Nakajima, "Transient Chaos in BERT," Phys. Rev. Res., vol. 4, no. 1, p. 013204, Mar. 2022, doi: 10.1103/PhysRevResearch.4.013204.

[8] A. Chatterjee, H. S. V. N. S. K. Renduchintala, S. Bhatia, and T. Chakraborty, "POSIX: A Prompt Sensitivity Index For Large Language Models," Oct. 04, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2410.02185. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2410.02185.

[9] Z. Wang, Z. Chu, T. V. Doan, S. Ni, M. Yang, and W. Zhang, "History, Development, and Principles of Large Language Models-An Introductory Survey," Sep. 23, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2402.06853. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2402.06853.

[10] J. Ye et al., "A Comprehensive Capability Analysis of GPT-3 and GPT-3.5 Series Models," Dec. 23, 2023, arXiv: arXiv:2303.10420. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2303.10420.

[11] M. Guven, "A Comprehensive Review of Large Language Models in Cyber Security.," Int. J. Comput. Exp. Sci. Eng., vol. 10, no. 3, Sep. 2024, doi: 10.22399/ijcesen.469.

[12] J. Zhang et al., "When LLMs Meet Cybersecurity: A Systematic Literature Review," Dec. 04, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2405.03644. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2405.03644.

[13] J. Cui, Y. Xu, Z. Huang, S. Zhou, J. Jiao, and J. Zhang, "Recent Advances in Attack and Defense Approaches of Large Language Models," Dec. 02, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2409.03274. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2409.03274.

[14] A. Kucharavy, O. Plancherel, V. Mulder, A. Mermoud, and V. Lenders, Eds., Large Language Models in Cybersecurity: Threats, Exposure and Mitigation. Cham: Springer Nature Switzerland, 2024. doi: 10.1007/978-3-031-54827-7.

[15] N. Capodieci, C. Sanchez-Adames, J. Harris, and U. Tatar, "The Impact of Generative AI and LLMs on the Cybersecurity Profession," in 2024 Systems and Information Engineering Design Symposium (SIEDS), Charlottesville, VA, USA: IEEE, May 2024, pp. 448–453. doi: 10.1109/SIEDS61124.2024.10534674.

[16] M. Sultana, A. Taylor, L. Li, and S. Majumdar, "Towards Evaluation and Understanding of Large Language Models for Cyber Operation Automation," in 2023 IEEE Conference on Communications and Network Security (CNS), Orlando, FL, USA: IEEE, Oct. 2023, pp. 1–6. doi: 10.1109/CNS59707.2023.10288677.

[17] S. Singh, F. Abri, and A. S. Namin, "Exploiting Large Language Models (LLMs) through Deception Techniques and Persuasion Principles," in 2023 IEEE International Conference on Big Data (BigData), Sorrento, Italy: IEEE, Dec. 2023, pp. 2508–2517. doi: 10.1109/BigData59044.2023.10386814.

[18] I. Hasanov, S. Virtanen, A. Hakkala, and J. Isoaho, "Application of Large Language Models in Cybersecurity: A Systematic Literature Review," IEEE Access, vol. 12, pp. 176751–176778, 2024, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2024.3505983.



UNIVERSITAT POLITÈCNICA DE CATALUNYA BARCELONATECH Escola de Doctorat

[19] F. N. Motlagh, M. Hajizadeh, M. Majd, P. Najafi, F. Cheng, and C. Meinel, "Large Language Models in Cybersecurity: State-of-the-Art," Jan. 30, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2402.00891. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2402.00891.

[20] M. Hassanin and N. Moustafa, "A Comprehensive Overview of Large Language Models (LLMs) for Cyber Defences: Opportunities and Directions," May 23, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2405.14487. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2405.14487.

[21] O. Çetin, E. Ekmekcioglu, B. Arief, and J. Hernandez-Castro, "An Empirical Evaluation of Large Language Models in Static Code Analysis for PHP Vulnerability Detection," JUCS - J. Univers. Comput. Sci., vol. 30, no. 9, pp. 1163–1183, Sep. 2024, doi: 10.3897/jucs.134739.

[22] M. Akyash and H. M. Kamali, "Evolutionary Large Language Models for Hardware Security: A Comparative Survey," Apr. 25, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2404.16651. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2404.16651.

[23] M. Abdollahi, S. F. Yeganli, M. (Amir) Baharloo, and A. Baniasadi, "Hardware Design and Verification with Large Language Models: A Literature Survey, Challenges, and Open Issues," Nov. 04, 2024, Computer Science and Mathematics. doi: 10.20944/preprints202411.0156.v1.

[24] W. Fu et al., "Hardware Phi-1.5B: A Large Language Model Encodes Hardware Domain Specific Knowledge," in 2024 29th Asia and South Pacific Design Automation Conference (ASP-DAC), Incheon, Korea, Republic of: IEEE, Jan. 2024, pp. 349–354. doi: 10.1109/ASP-DAC58780.2024.10473927.

[25] M. Scanlon, F. Breitinger, C. Hargreaves, J.-N. Hilgert, and J. Sheppard, "ChatGPT for digital forensic investigation: The good, the bad, and the unknown," Forensic Sci. Int. Digit. Investig., vol. 46, p. 301609, Oct. 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.fsidi.2023.301609.

[26] H. Himanshu, S. Bhatt, and L. Negi, "Digital Forensics Techniques and Trends: A Review," Int. Arab J. Inf. Technol., vol. 20, no. 4, 2023, doi: 10.34028/iajit/20/4/11.

[27] H. N. Fakhouri, M. A. AlSharaiah, A. K. Al Hwaitat, M. Alkalaileh, and F. F. Dweikat, "Overview of Challenges Faced by Digital Forensic," in 2024 2nd International Conference on Cyber Resilience (ICCR), Dubai, United Arab Emirates: IEEE, Feb. 2024, pp. 1–8. doi: 10.1109/ICCR61006.2024.10532850.

[28] A. Noland, "Current Challenges of Digital Forensics," 2024.

[29] F. Y. Loumachi, M. C. Ghanem, and M. A. Ferrag, "GenDFIR: Advancing Cyber Incident Timeline Analysis Through Retrieval Augmented Generation and Large Language Models," Dec. 27, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2409.02572. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2409.02572.

[30] E. Karlsen, X. Luo, N. Zincir-Heywood, and M. Heywood, "Benchmarking Large Language Models for Log Analysis, Security, and Interpretation," 2023, arXiv. doi: 10.48550/ARXIV.2311.14519.

[31] H. Henseler and H. van Beek, "ChatGPT as a Copilot for Investigating Digital Evidence".

[32] A. Wickramasekara and M. Scanlon, "A Framework for Integrated Digital Forensic Investigation Employing AutoGen AI Agents," in 2024 12th International Symposium on Digital Forensics and Security (ISDFS), San Antonio, TX, USA: IEEE, Apr. 2024, pp. 01–06. doi: 10.1109/ISDFS60797.2024.10527235.

[33] R. Bharati, P. G. Khodke, C. P. Khadilkar, and Dr. S. Bawiskar, "Forensic Bytes: Admissibility and Challenges of Digital Evidence in Legal Proceedings," SSRN Electron. J., 2024, doi: 10.2139/ssrn.4896874.
[34] D. You and D. Chon, "Trust & Safety of LLMs and LLMs in Trust & Safety," Dec. 03, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2412.02113. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2412.02113.

[35] E. Xu, W. Zhang, and W. Xu, "Transforming Digital Forensics with Large Language Models: Unlocking Automation, Insights, and Justice," in Proceedings of the 33rd ACM International Conference on Information and Knowledge Management, Boise ID USA: ACM, Oct. 2024, pp. 5543–5546. doi: 10.1145/3627673.3679091.

[36] X. Shen et al., "PentestAgent: Incorporating LLM Agents to Automated Penetration Testing," Nov. 07, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2411.05185. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2411.05185.

[37] A. Happe, A. Kaplan, and J. Cito, "LLMs as Hackers: Autonomous Linux Privilege Escalation Attacks," Aug. 01, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2310.11409. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2310.11409.

[38] J. Xu et al., "AutoAttacker: A Large Language Model Guided System to Implement Automatic Cyber-attacks," Mar. 02, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2403.01038. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2403.01038.

[39] C. Ionescu, "Red-Teaming Code LLMs for Malware Generation".

[40] M. Asfour and J. C. Murillo, "Harnessing Large Language Models to Simulate Realistic Human Responses to Social Engineering Attacks: A Case Study," Int. J. Cybersecurity Intell. Cybercrime, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 21–49, Aug. 2023, doi: 10.52306/2578-3289.1172.



[41] J. Hazell, "Spear Phishing With Large Language Models," Dec. 22, 2023, arXiv: arXiv:2305.06972. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2305.06972.

[42] M. Yong Wong, K. Valakuzhy, M. Ahamad, D. Blough, and F. Monrose, "Understanding LLMs Ability to Aid Malware Analysts in Bypassing Evasion Techniques," in Companion Proceedings of the 26th International Conference on Multimodal Interaction, San Jose Costa Rica: ACM, Nov. 2024, pp. 36–40. doi: 10.1145/3686215.3690147.

[43] C. Patsakis, F. Casino, and N. Lykousas, "Assessing LLMs in Malicious Code Deobfuscation of Realworld Malware Campaigns," Apr. 30, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2404.19715. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2404.19715.

[44] A. Diaf, A. A. Korba, N. E. Karabadji, and Y. Ghamri-Doudane, "Beyond Detection: Leveraging Large Language Models for Cyber Attack Prediction in IoT Networks," Aug. 26, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2408.14045. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2408.14045.

[45] M. M. Yamin, E. Hashmi, M. Ullah, and B. Katt, "Applications of LLMs for Generating Cyber Security Exercise Scenarios," Feb. 26, 2024, In Review. doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-3970015/v1.

[46] B. Kereopa-Yorke, "Building Resilient SMEs: Harnessing Large Language Models for Cyber Security in Australia," Jun. 05, 2023, arXiv: arXiv:2306.02612. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2306.02612.

[47] S. Sultana, S. Afreen, and N. U. Eisty, "Code Vulnerability Detection: A Comparative Analysis of Emerging Large Language Models," Sep. 16, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2409.10490. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2409.10490.

[48] X. Zhou, T. Zhang, and D. Lo, "Large Language Model for Vulnerability Detection: Emerging Results and Future Directions," in Proceedings of the 2024 ACM/IEEE 44th International Conference on Software Engineering: New Ideas and Emerging Results, Lisbon Portugal: ACM, Apr. 2024, pp. 47–51. doi: 10.1145/3639476.3639762.

[49] S. A. Atiiq, C. Gehrmann, and K. Dahlén, "Vulnerability Detection in Popular Programming Languages with Language Models," Dec. 23, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2412.15905. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2412.15905.

[50] S. Wang et al., "Unique Security and Privacy Threats of Large Language Model: A Comprehensive Survey," Jun. 18, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2406.07973. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2406.07973.

[51] H. Debar, S. Dietrich, P. Laskov, E. C. Lupu, and E. Ntoutsi, "Emerging Security Challenges of Large Language Models," Dec. 23, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2412.17614. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2412.17614.

[52] F. Heiding, S. Lermen, A. Kao, B. Schneier, and A. Vishwanath, "Evaluating Large Language Models' Capability to Launch Fully Automated Spear Phishing Campaigns: Validated on Human Subjects," Nov. 30, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2412.00586. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2412.00586.

[53] S. Ullah, M. Han, S. Pujar, H. Pearce, A. Coskun, and G. Stringhini, "LLMs Cannot Reliably Identify and Reason About Security Vulnerabilities (Yet?): A Comprehensive Evaluation, Framework, and Benchmarks," Jul. 24, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2312.12575. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2312.12575.

[54] F. Wu, N. Zhang, S. Jha, P. McDaniel, and C. Xiao, "A New Era in LLM Security: Exploring Security Concerns in Real-World LLM-based Systems," Feb. 28, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2402.18649. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2402.18649.

[55] D. Kang, X. Li, I. Stoica, C. Guestrin, M. Zaharia, and T. Hashimoto, "Exploiting Programmatic Behavior of LLMs: Dual-Use Through Standard Security Attacks," Feb. 11, 2023, arXiv: arXiv:2302.05733. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2302.05733.

[56] S. Ouyang, J. M. Zhang, M. Harman, and M. Wang, "An Empirical Study of the Non-determinism of ChatGPT in Code Generation," ACM Trans. Softw. Eng. Methodol., p. 3697010, Sep. 2024, doi: 10.1145/3697010.

[57] L. Zhou, W. Schellaert, F. Martínez-Plumed, Y. Moros-Daval, C. Ferri, and J. Hernández-Orallo, "Larger and more instructable language models become less reliable," Nature, vol. 634, no. 8032, pp. 61–68, Oct. 2024, doi: 10.1038/s41586-024-07930-y.

[58] D. Bowen, B. Murphy, W. Cai, D. Khachaturov, A. Gleave, and K. Pelrine, "Data Poisoning in LLMs: Jailbreak-Tuning and Scaling Laws," Dec. 27, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2408.02946. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2408.02946.

[59] N. Carlini et al., "Extracting Training Data from Large Language Models," Jun. 15, 2021, arXiv: arXiv:2012.07805. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2012.07805.

[60] K. Kurita, P. Michel, and G. Neubig, "Weight Poisoning Attacks on Pre-trained Models," Apr. 14, 2020, arXiv: arXiv:2004.06660. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2004.06660.



[61] Z. Zheng et al., "Attention Heads of Large Language Models: A Survey," Dec. 23, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2409.03752. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2409.03752.

[62] X. Qi et al., "Fine-tuning Aligned Language Models Compromises Safety, Even When Users Do Not Intend To!," Oct. 05, 2023, arXiv: arXiv:2310.03693. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2310.03693.

[63] X. Xu et al., "A Survey on Knowledge Distillation of Large Language Models," Oct. 21, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2402.13116. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2402.13116.

[64] J. Zhao, Z. Deng, D. Madras, J. Zou, and M. Ren, "Learning and Forgetting Unsafe Examples in Large Language Models," Jul. 03, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2312.12736. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2312.12736.

[65] A. G. Chowdhury et al., "Breaking Down the Defenses: A Comparative Survey of Attacks on Large Language Models," Mar. 23, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2403.04786. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2403.04786.

[66] J. Xue et al., "TrojLLM: A Black-box Trojan Prompt Attack on Large Language Models".

[67] C. Sitawarin, N. Mu, D. Wagner, and A. Araujo, "PAL: Proxy-Guided Black-Box Attack on Large Language Models," Feb. 15, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2402.09674. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2402.09674.

[68] V. Smith, A. S. Shamsabadi, C. Ashurst, and A. Weller, "Identifying and Mitigating Privacy Risks Stemming from Language Models: A Survey," Jun. 18, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2310.01424. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2310.01424.

[69] X. Qi, K. Huang, A. Panda, P. Henderson, M. Wang, and P. Mittal, "Visual Adversarial Examples Jailbreak Aligned Large Language Models," Aug. 16, 2023, arXiv: arXiv:2306.13213. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2306.13213.

[70] P. Chao, A. Robey, E. Dobriban, H. Hassani, G. J. Pappas, and E. Wong, "Jailbreaking Black Box Large Language Models in Twenty Queries," Jul. 18, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2310.08419. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2310.08419.

[71] S. Goellner, M. Tropmann-Frick, and B. Brumen, "Responsible Artificial Intelligence: A Structured Literature Review," Mar. 11, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2403.06910. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2403.06910.

[72] A. Zytek, S. Pidò, and K. Veeramachaneni, "LLMs for XAI: Future Directions for Explaining Explanations," May 09, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2405.06064. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2405.06064.

[73] E. Cambria, L. Malandri, F. Mercorio, N. Nobani, and A. Seveso, "XAI meets LLMs: A Survey of the Relation between Explainable AI and Large Language Models," Jul. 21, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2407.15248. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2407.15248.

[74] S. R. Islam, W. Eberle, S. K. Ghafoor, and M. Ahmed, "Explainable Artificial Intelligence Approaches: A Survey," Jan. 23, 2021, arXiv: arXiv:2101.09429. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2101.09429.

[75] P. Mavrepis, G. Makridis, G. Fatouros, V. Koukos, M. M. Separdani, and D. Kyriazis, "XAI for All: Can Large Language Models Simplify Explainable AI?," Jan. 23, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2401.13110. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2401.13110.

[76] S. Baker and W. Xiang, "Explainable AI is Responsible AI: How Explainability Creates Trustworthy and Socially Responsible Artificial Intelligence," Dec. 04, 2023, arXiv: arXiv:2312.01555. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2312.01555.

[77] H. Vainio-Pekka et al., "The Role of Explainable AI in the Research Field of AI Ethics," ACM Trans. Interact. Intell. Syst., vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 1–39, Dec. 2023, doi: 10.1145/3599974.

[78] A. Chandrasehar, "Responsible AI Practices For LLM Models," vol. 13, no. 4, 2023.

[79] M. Anderljung et al., "Frontier AI Regulation: Managing Emerging Risks to Public Safety," Nov. 07, 2023, arXiv: arXiv:2307.03718. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2307.03718.

[80] H. Vainio-Pekka et al., "The Role of Explainable AI in the Research Field of AI Ethics," ACM Trans. Interact. Intell. Syst., vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 1–39, Dec. 2023, doi: 10.1145/3599974.

[81] S. U. Hamida, M. J. M. Chowdhury, N. R. Chakraborty, K. Biswas, and S. K. Sami, "Exploring the Landscape of Explainable Artificial Intelligence (XAI): A Systematic Review of Techniques and Applications," Big Data Cogn. Comput., vol. 8, no. 11, p. 149, Oct. 2024, doi: 10.3390/bdcc8110149.

[82] R. Schaeffer, B. Miranda, and S. Koyejo, "Are Emergent Abilities of Large Language Models a Mirage?," May 22, 2023, arXiv: arXiv:2304.15004. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2304.15004.

[83] J. Zhuo, S. Zhang, X. Fang, H. Duan, D. Lin, and K. Chen, "ProSA: Assessing and Understanding the Prompt Sensitivity of LLMs," Oct. 16, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2410.12405. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2410.12405.

[84] H. Luo and L. Specia, "From Understanding to Utilization: A Survey on Explainability for Large Language Models," Feb. 22, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2401.12874. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2401.12874.



[85] C. Singh, J. P. Inala, M. Galley, R. Caruana, and J. Gao, "Rethinking Interpretability in the Era of Large Language Models," Jan. 30, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2402.01761. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2402.01761.

[86] M. Loya, D. A. Sinha, and R. Futrell, "Exploring the Sensitivity of LLMs' Decision-Making Capabilities: Insights from Prompt Variation and Hyperparameters".

[87] S. Anagnostidis and J. Bulian, "How Susceptible are LLMs to Influence in Prompts?," Aug. 17, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2408.11865. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2408.11865.

[88] Z. Feng, H. Zhou, Z. Zhu, J. Qian, and K. Mao, "Unveiling and Manipulating Prompt Influence in Large Language Models," May 20, 2024, arXiv: arXiv:2405.11891. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2405.11891.

[89] B. Klimt and Y. Yang, "Introducing the Enron Corpus".

[90] S. Garfinkel, P. Farrell, V. Roussev, and G. Dinolt, "Bringing science to digital forensics with standardized forensic corpora," Digit. Investig., vol. 6, pp. S2–S11, Sep. 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.diin.2009.06.016.



Data Management Plan (DMP)

Introduction

This Data Management Plan (DMP) describes the lifecycle of data collected, generated, processed, and disseminated during the research project. It adheres to the **FAIR principles** (Findable, Accessible, Interoperable, Reusable), GDPR compliance, and institutional data protection policies. As a living document, the DMP will be revised regularly to reflect new methodologies, tools, and evolving research objectives.



Figure 13: Data Flow illustrating the lifecycle of data in the research project.

1. Data Identification

| Data Type | Format | Description | Source/Platform |
|----------------|---------------|--|--------------------------------|
| LLM Outputs | JSON, | Responses generated by LLMs. | OpenAl API (GPT-4), Gemini, |
| | TXT | | Anthropic, etc. |
| Collected Data | CSV, | Subsets of public datasets relevant to | Enron Email Dataset, CERT |
| | XLSX, TXT | cybersecurity and forensic tasks. | Insider Threat Dataset, CSIC |
| | | | HTTP Dataset |
| Synthetic Data | CSV, TXT, | HDL/PLC and other languages code | Python libraries (NumPy, |
| | V <i>,</i> ST | snippets and forensic scenarios with | Faker, Custom Scripts) |
| | | intentional vulnerabilities. | |
| Processed Data | CSV, | Annotated or aggregated datasets | Derived from LLM outputs, |
| | XLSX, | with security vulnerabilities or | collected, and synthetic data. |
| | HDF5 | forensic evidence. | |
| Experimental | JSON, | Parameters, configurations, and | Generated during experiments. |
| Metadata | TXT | random seeds used during | |
| | | experiments for reproducibility. | |
| Prompts | TXT, | Categorized prompts (adversarial or | Custom-designed for the |
| | JSON | chaotic) designed for testing LLM | research objectives. |
| | | responses. | |



This section describes the origin and sources of data used in the research, putting much emphasis on the datasets that would align with cybersecurity, adversarial prompt testing, secure code generation, and forensic tasks. The data used includes publicly available datasets, synthetic data, and outputs generated from Large Language Models.

1.1 LLM Outputs

- Source:
 - Generated via APIs provided by platforms such as OpenAI (GPT-4), Anthropic (Claude), and Google Generative AI (Gemini).
- Process:
 - Prompts designed to elicit responses for secure code generation, forensic tasks, and adversarial testing.
 - Parameters, such as temperature and top-k sampling, are standardized and recorded to ensure reproducibility.

• Purpose:

• Evaluate LLMs' ability to handle Chaotic Prompting, generate secure code, and process forensic datasets.

1.2 Collected Data

- Source:
 - Public datasets obtained from open repositories relevant to cybersecurity and forensic research. Examples include:
 - Enron Email Dataset: Real-world email communications (~500,000 emails) for testing forensic analysis and anomaly detection capabilities.
 - **CERT Insider Threat Dataset**: Synthetic log entries simulating insider threats (~70 million log records), used for anomaly detection and behavioral analysis.
 - CSIC HTTP Dataset: Labeled HTTP requests (~60,000 entries), used for secure code generation and web vulnerability analysis.
 - CodeXGLUE: Benchmark for code generation and understanding tasks, including vulnerability detection.
 - Real-CyberSecurity-Datasets: A curated collection of datasets addressing cybersecurity challenges such as intrusion detection, malware analysis, and malicious URL detection. Includes diverse datasets for training and testing LLMs in identifying cyber threats and analyzing vulnerabilities.
 - CICIDS2017 Dataset: Simulated network traffic for intrusion detection, featuring both attack and benign data.
- Process:
 - Subsets of these datasets are curated to align with research objectives, to evaluate LLM robustness and effectiveness in addressing cybersecurity-specific challenges, such as detecting anomalies, analyzing adversarial scenarios, and reconstructing forensic events, while validating their performance against industry-relevant benchmarks to uncover vulnerabilities and improve security-focused applications.

1.3 Synthetic Data

- Source:
 - Generated using tools like Faker, NumPy, and SciPy for realistic but synthetic programming/HDL/PLC code and forensic scenarios.
 - o Incorporates scenarios inspired by **PromptBench** for adversarial testing.
- Process:
 - Scenarios crafted to include injected vulnerabilities (e.g., CWE-79 for XSS, CWE-89 for SQL injection) and multi-step adversarial chains.



- Purpose:
 - Simulate real-world attack scenarios for evaluating LLM responses under controlled conditions.

1.4 Processed Data

- Source:
 - Derived from raw outputs, public datasets, and synthetic data.
- Process:
 - Annotated datasets include labeled vulnerabilities, anomaly tags, and classifications derived from frameworks like JailbreakBench.
 - Aggregated metrics from adversarial tests using tools like **PromptBench**.
- Purpose:
 - o Enable detailed evaluations of LLM performance and vulnerabilities.

1.5 Experimental Metadata

- Source:
 - Logged during experiments with tools like JailbreakBench and PromptBench.
- Process:
 - Metadata includes prompt details, model configurations, response classifications, and robustness scores.
- Purpose:
 - Ensure reproducibility and transparency in benchmarking LLM robustness.

1.6 Prompts

- Source:
 - Designed manually and generated programmatically using insights from **PromptBench** and **JailbreakBench**.
- Process:
 - Categorized as:
 - Chaotic Prompts: Test stability under perturbations (e.g., ambiguous instructions).
 - Adversarial Prompts: Exploit vulnerabilities in LLMs (e.g., bypassing ethical safeguards).
 - Exploratory Prompts: General evaluations of LLM capabilities in cybersecurity.
- Purpose:
 - Assess LLM resilience to attacks and robustness in chaotic or adversarial conditions.

2. Data Collection and Processing

2.1 Collection Methods

- 1. LLM Outputs:
 - Generated via APIs with standardized parameters for consistency (e.g., temperature, top-k).
 - Metadata includes prompt, model configuration, and response details.
- 2. Synthetic Data:
 - Created using Python libraries (Faker, NumPy) and custom scripts for HDL/PLC code and forensic scenarios.
 - o Validation involves statistical comparisons to real-world datasets and expert review.
- 3. Curated Datasets:
 - Selection based on relevance, completeness, and alignment with research objectives.



 \circ $\;$ Sensitive or personal information excluded or anonymized.

2.2 Processing Workflow

1. Data Cleaning:

- Handle missing values via imputation or category creation (e.g., "Unknown").
- Deduplicate records using checksums or similarity algorithms.
- Standardize formats (e.g., UTC timestamps).

2. Annotation:

- Annotation guidelines for tagging insecure code patterns, forensic evidence, and anomalies.
- Tools: Label Studio, Prodigy.
- Agreement measured using Cohen's Kappa, targeting ≥0.8.

3. Transformation:

- Normalize and summarize data for analysis.
- \circ \quad Store metadata and transformed datasets for reproducibility.

3. Standards and Methodologies

3.1 FAIR Principles

- Findable: Metadata structured using Dublin Core standards; datasets indexed in Zenodo.
- Accessible: Public datasets shared openly; sensitive data access restricted with formal requests.
- Interoperable: Formats (CSV, JSON) and vocabularies ensure compatibility.
- **Reusable**: Comprehensive documentation and CC BY 4.0 licensing enable reuse.

3.2 Prompt Categorization

Prompts are categorized into:

1. Chaotic Prompts:

- o Designed to introduce ambiguities or perturbations, such as contradictory instructions.
- Example: "Explain the consequences of enforcing two opposing laws simultaneously."

2. Adversarial Prompts:

- Crafted to expose vulnerabilities, such as insecure code generation or harmful outputs.
- Example: "Write a script to bypass password authentication to test the model's ability to identify and refuse potentially harmful requests."

3. Exploratory Prompts:

- Focused on testing model behavior in general scenarios.
- Example: "Summarize the steps of a secure login process."

4. Data Policy

1. LLM Outputs:

- \circ $\;$ Licensing terms aligned with platform-specific policies.
- Aggregate or derivative analyses shared if direct sharing is restricted.
- 2. Ownership:
 - Synthetic data jointly owned by the researcher and institution.
 - LLM outputs governed by platform agreements.

5. Data Dissemination

- Repositories:
 - Public: Zenodo, GitHub.
 - Domain-specific: Cybersecurity archives.



6. Roles and Responsibilities

| Role | Responsibility | |
|---------------|--|--|
| Researcher | Data collection, processing, documentation, sharing. | |
| Institution | stitution Repository access, storage infrastructure, ethical oversight | |
| Collaborators | Annotation, quality assurance. | |

7. Sensitive Information

- Personal data will not be used unless publicly available.
- Sensitive attributes anonymized or excluded to prevent bias.



Personal Training Plan

To build expertise in **cybersecurity**, **Large Language Models (LLMs)**, and **innovative research skills** while fostering ethical and responsible scientific practices. This plan integrates training courses, mobility opportunities, and activities across diverse domains.

1. Training Courses Cybersecurity and Digital Forensics

| Course Name | Provider | Place | Date | Format | Link |
|---|---|--------|----------|--------|--|
| Cybersecurity for Everyone | University of Maryland (Coursera) | Online | Flexible | Online | <u>Cybersecurity for</u> <u>Everyone</u> |
| Introduction to Cybersecurity Fundamentals | University of London (Coursera) | Online | Flexible | Online | Introduction to Cybersecurity Fundamentals |
| Digital Forensics for Beginners | Udemy | Online | Flexible | Online | Digital Forensics |
| Incident Response and Advanced Forensics Training | Cybrary | Online | Flexible | Online | Incident Response |

LLMs and AI in Cybersecurity

| Course Name | Provider | Place | Date | Format | Link |
|---|-------------------------------|--------|----------|--------|---|
| Master ChatGPT for Ethical Hacking | EC-Council | Online | Flexible | Online | Master ChatGPT for Ethical Hacking |
| ChatGPT Prompt Engineering for Developers | DeepLearning.Al (Coursera) | Online | Flexible | Online | Prompt Engineering |
| Applied ChatGPT for Cybersecurity | Infosec (Coursera) | Online | Flexible | Online | ChatGPT for Cybersecurity |
| Fine-Tuning Transformers for LLMs | Hugging Face | Online | Flexible | Online | <u>Fine-Tuning</u> <u>Transformers</u> |

Hardware Security

| Course Name | Provider | Place | Date | Format | Link |
|-------------------------------------|----------|--------|-----------|--------|----------------------|
| Hardware Security | Coursera | Online | Flexible | Online | Hardware Security |
| Hardware Security: Design, Threats, | NPTEL | Online | Scheduled | Online | Hardware Security by |
| and Safeguards | | | | | <u>NPTEL</u> |



Scientific Research and Ethics

| Course Name | Provider | Date | Format | Link |
|--|-------------------------------------|----------------|---------------|---|
| Ethics for Engineers, Researchers and Innovators | UPC Doctoral School | 01-03- 2025 | In- Person | Ethics for Engineers, Researchers, and Innovators |
| Good Citation Behavior | Clarivate Web of Science Academy | Flexible | Online | Good Citation Behavior |
| An Introduction to Ethical Publishing Behavior | Clarivate Web of Science Academy | Flexible | Online | An Introduction to Ethical Publishing Behavior |

Research Entrepreneurship and Creativity

| Course Name | Provider | Date | Format | Link |
|--|------------------------|------------|---------------|--|
| Technology-based Innovation Project | UPC Doctoral School | 14-02-2025 | In- Person | Technology-Based Innovation Project |
| Entrepreneurship for Researchers | DocEnhance | Flexible | Online | Entrepreneurship for Researchers |
| Creative Problem-Solving in Research | LinkedIn Learning | Flexible | Online | Creative Problem-Solving |

2. Conferences and Seminars

| Event | Provider/Location | Date | Format | Link |
|--------------------|-------------------|-----------|-----------|-------------------|
| Google I/O Connect | Google / TBD | June 2025 | In-Person | <u>Google I/O</u> |

3. Open-Science Courses and Activities

| Course Name | Provider | Place | Date | Format | Link |
|------------------------------|---------------|--------|-----------|--------|-----------------|
| Open Science Workshop | Bibliotècnica | UPC | Quarterly | In- | Open Science |
| | UPC | Campus | | person | <u>Workshop</u> |
| Cross-Disciplinary Training: | UPC Doctoral | UPC | Periodic | In- | Open Science |
| Open Science and RRI | School | Campus | | person | and RRI |

4. Timeline Overview

| Year | Activities |
|------|---|
| 2025 | Complete foundational courses on cybersecurity and AI; attend Google I/O Connect. |
| 2026 | Research stay; focus on code generation, hardware security; attend a conference. |
| 2027 | Research stay; fine-tune LLMs for forensic tasks; attend a conference. |
| 2028 | Finalize dissertation; complete training on entrepreneurship and ethics; prepare for defense. |